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accessed on the Company’s website at www.daciangold.com.au. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The Directors present the financial statements of Dacian Gold Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled subsidiaries 
(“the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2020.  In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, 
the Directors’ Report is as follows: 
 
Directors 

The Directors of the Company in office since 1 July 2019 and up to the date of this report are: 
 
Ian Cochrane BCom LLB 

(Non-Executive Chairman – previously a Non-Executive Director until his appointment as Chairman on 6 January 
2020) 

Mr Cochrane is a corporate lawyer and was widely regarded as one of Australia’s leading M&A lawyers until his 
retirement from the practice of law in December 2013. 

Educated in South Africa where he completed degrees in Commerce and Law, he immigrated to Australia in 1986 and 
joined national law firm Corrs Chambers Westgarth and then Mallesons Stephen Jaques, specialising in Mergers & 
Acquisitions. 

In 2006, Mr Cochrane co-established boutique law firm Cochrane Lishman, which was eventually acquired by the global 
law firm Clifford Chance in early 2011. 

Mr Cochrane is currently the Chairman of diversified ASX-listed mining services group Perenti Global Limited (ASX: 
PRN). 

Other than as stated above, Mr Cochrane has not served as a Director of any other listed companies in the three years 
immediately before the end of the 2020 financial year. 

 
Leigh Junk Dip Surv, GDip MinEng, Msc MinEcon, GAICD 

(Managing Director & CEO – appointed 6 January 2020) 

Mr Junk is a Mining Engineer with over 25 years of operational and executive management experience in numerous 
Australian mining companies across multiple commodities including gold, nickel and manganese. 

Mr Junk has been a Director of several public companies in the Mining and Financial sectors in Australia and Canada, 
and most recently was the CEO and Managing Director of Doray Minerals Ltd until its merger with Silver Lake Resources 
in 2019. 

Mr Junk was a co-founder of Donegal Resources which was successful in purchasing and recommissioning several 
Nickel operations around Kambalda WA until it was sold to Canadian miner Brilliant Mining Corp. 

In 2003, Mr Junk was the recipient of the Ernst & Young WA “Young Entrepreneur of the Year Award” and in 2007 was 
a winner in the WA Business News “40 Under 40 Award”. 

Other than as stated above, Mr Junk has not served as a Director of any other listed companies in the three years 
immediately before the end of the 2020 financial year. 
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Robert Reynolds  MAusIMM 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Reynolds was the Non-Executive Chairman of Avoca Resources Ltd from 2002 until it merged with Anatolia Minerals 
to form Alacer Gold Corp in 2011.  Mr Reynolds was Non-Executive Chairman of Alacer Gold Corp until 23 August 2011. 

With over 35 years’ commercial experience in the mining sector, Mr Reynolds has worked on mining projects in a 
number of locations including Australia, Africa and across the Oceania region and has extensive experience in mineral 
exploration, development and mining operations.  

Mr Reynolds was a long term Director of Delta Gold Limited and was a Director of Extorre Gold Mines Limited when it 
was acquired by Yamana Gold for CAD$414 million on 22 August 2012.  Mr Reynolds was also previously a Director of 
Canadian company Exeter Resource Corporation when it was acquired by Goldcorp Inc. on 2 August 2017 for CAD$184 
million.  Mr Reynolds currently holds a Directorship with Canadian company Rugby Mining Limited. 

Other than as stated above, Mr Reynolds has not served as a Director of any other listed companies in the three years 
immediately before the end of the 2020 financial year. 
 
Barry Patterson ASMM, MAusIMM, FAICD 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Patterson is a mining engineer with over 50 years of experience in the mining industry and is co-founder, and Non-
Executive Director, of ASX listed GR Engineering Limited.  

Mr Patterson was also a founding shareholder of leading engineering services provider JR Engineering, which became 
Roche Mining after being taken over by Downer EDI in 2002.  He also co-founded contract mining companies Eltin, 
Australian Mine Management and National Mine Management. 

Mr Patterson has served as a Director of a number of public companies across a range of industries. He was formerly 
the Non-Executive Director of Sonic Healthcare Limited for 8 years and Chairman for 11 years, during which time the 
company’s market capitalisation increased from $20 million to $4 billion, and Silex Systems Limited.  

Other than as stated above, Mr Patterson has not served as a Director of any other listed companies in the three years 
immediately before the end of the 2020 financial year. 
 
Rohan Williams BSc (Hons), MAusIMM   

(Executive Chairman & CEO – retired 6 January 2020) 

Mr Williams has over 30 years of experience in exploration, mine development and operations in both Australia and 
overseas.  Mr Williams also serves on the Board of the Telethon Kids Institute. 

On 14 March 2014, Mr Williams became Executive Chairman of the Company.  Prior to this date, Mr Williams 
undertook the Chairman’s role on a Non-Executive basis. 

Other than as stated above, Mr Williams has not served as a Director of any other listed companies in the three years 
immediately before the end of the 2020 financial year. 

Mr Williams was the CEO and Executive Chairman until his retirement on 6 January 2020. 
 
Kevin Hart B.Comm, FCA  

Company Secretary  

Mr Hart is a Chartered Accountant and was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 27 November 2012.  
He has over 35 years’ experience in accounting and the management and administration of public listed entities in the 
mining and exploration industry. 

He is currently a partner in an advisory firm, Endeavour Corporate, which specialises in the provision of company 
secretarial and accounting services to ASX listed entities. 
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Meetings of Directors 

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and each Board Committee held during the year ended 
30 June 2020, and the number of meetings attended by each Director were: 

Director Board Meetings 
Remuneration & 

Nomination Committee 
Audit Committee 

 A B A B A B 

Leigh Junk (i) 8 7 - - - - 

Rohan Williams (ii) 7 7 - - - - 

Robert Reynolds 15 15 2 2 2 2 

Barry Patterson 15 14 2 2 2 2 

Ian Cochrane 15 15 2 2 2 2 

A = the number of meetings the Director was entitled to attend 
B = the number of meetings the Director attended 
(i) Mr Junk was appointed Managing Director & CEO with effect from 6 January 2020. 
(ii) Mr Williams retired with effect from 6 January 2020.  
 
Directors’ interests 

The following relevant interests in shares, options and performance rights of the Company were held by the Directors 
as at the date of this report: 
 

Director 
Number of fully paid 

ordinary shares 
Number of options vested 

and exercisable 
Number of rights over 

ordinary shares 

Leigh Junk 959,076 - 8,333,334 

Robert Reynolds 3,063,888 - - 

Barry Patterson 19,915,307 - - 

Ian Cochrane 530,590 300,000 - 

During the period, 1,499,893 shares were issued to Rohan Williams on the cashless exercise of 2,000,000 options which 
had an exercise price of $0.39. The options were exercised for nil consideration pursuant to the cashless exercise 
provisions of the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan.  

Further details of the vesting conditions applicable to the options and performance rights are disclosed in the 
remuneration report section of this Directors’ Report. 
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Securities  

Options 

At the date of this report, unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 

Number of options Exercise price Expiry date 

400,000 $0.60 30 September 2020 

40,000 $0.61 31 January 2021 

300,000 $1.44 28 February 2021 

500,000 $3.11 30 June 2021 

During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options 
as follows (there were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued).  All options were exercised for nil consideration 
pursuant to the cashless exercise provisions of the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan.  

Date options granted Exercise price Number of shares issued 

25 September 2014 $0.58 267,294 

18 November 2014 $0.39 1,499,893 

5 February 2016 $1.16 460,298 

 
Performance Rights 

On 23 August 2019 the Company issued 1,601,019 performance rights to employees. These performance rights are 
subject to performance conditions and expire on 30 June 2026.   

On 16 June 2020, following shareholder approval, the Company issued 8,333,334 performance rights to the Managing 
Director and CEO Mr Leigh Junk.  These performance rights are subject to performance conditions and expire between 
30 June 2023 and 30 June 2025. 

Shares issued on exercise of performance rights during the year are detailed in the following table: 

Date performance rights granted Performance rights value Number of shares issued(i) 

17 October 2016 $544,500 165,000 

30 August 2017 $251,944 129,534 

(i) At 30 June 2020 there were no rights that had vested during the year and were unissued at year end. At 30 June 
2019, 165,000 rights had vested during the year and were unissued at year end. 

A reconciliation of performance rights outstanding at the date of this report appears below. 

 Number of 
Rights 

Rights outstanding at 30 June 2019 299,893 

Rights issued during the year 9,934,353 

Rights vested during the year (129,534) 

Rights forfeited during the year (556,366) 

Rights vested and issued post year end (51,921) 

Rights forfeited post year end (13,268) 

Rights outstanding at the date of this report 9,483,157 

 
Dividends 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the Directors do not recommend the 
payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year. 
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Nature of Operations and Principal Activities 

Dacian Gold Limited is an Australian mid-tier gold producer with its head office in Perth, Western Australia.  The 
Company operates the Mt Morgans Gold Operation (“MMGO”) near Laverton, Western Australia.  The operation 
comprises a 2.5 Mtpa CIL treatment plant, the Jupiter open pit and Westralia underground mining areas. 

The principal activities of the Group during the period were gold mining, processing and exploration at its 100% owned 
MMGO. 
 
Operating and Financial Review 

A summary of the operating result for the Group is set out below: 

Key Financial Data 2020 
$’000 

2019(ii) 
$’000 

Change 
$’000 

Change 
% 

Financial Performance      
Sales revenue  270,047 132,821 137,226 103% 

Costs of sales (excluding D&A)(i)  (210,785) (90,278) (120,507) (133%) 

Exploration costs expensed and written off  (9,148) (12,247) 3,099 25% 

Corporate, admin and other costs  (11,346) (10,277) (1,069) (10%) 

Adjusted EBITDA(i)  38,768 20,019 18,749 94% 

Impairment losses on assets  (68,537) - (68,537) (100%) 

Losses on derivative instruments  (6,808) - (6,808) (100%) 

Depreciation & amortisation (D&A)  (54,646) (18,889) (35,757) (189%) 

Net interest expense  (4,864) (2,462) (2,402) (98%) 

Loss before tax(i)  (96,087) (1,332) (94,755) (7,114%) 

Income tax (expense) / benefit  (20,377) 4,350 (24,727) (568%) 

Reported (loss)/ profit after tax  (116,464) 3,018 (119,482) (3,959%) 

      

Financial Position      

Cash flow from operating activities  22,959 47,186 (24,227) (51%) 

Cash flow from investing activities  (46,033) (77,322) 31,289 40% 

Cash and cash equivalents  51,976 35,515 16,461 46% 

Net assets  162,642 184,875 (22,233) (12%) 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  (40.6) 1.4 (42.0) (3,000%) 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  (40.6) 1.3 (41.9) (3,223%) 

(i) Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of earnings before interest, losses on derivative financial instruments, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation. Cost of sales (excluding D&A) and EBITDA are non-IFRS financial information and are not subject to audit. These 
measures are included to assist investors to better understand the performance of the business 

(ii) During the financial year ended 30 June 2019, the Group declared commercial production at the MMGO. This declaration was made 
on 1 January 2019.  During the commissioning phase (prior to the commencement of commercial production) expenditure of an 
operating nature was capitalised to mine properties in development.  Revenue from the sale of gold was treated as pre-production 
income and credited to capitalised mine properties in development. 

Results 

Consolidated net loss after tax for the year was $116.5 million (30 June 2019: Net profit $3.0 million).   

The financial result for the year ending 30 June 2020 has been impacted by the following significant cash and non-cash 
adjustments: 

- $68.5 million of MMGO asset impairments; 
- losses on derivative instruments from deferred premium put options of $6.8 million; 
- immediately expensed exploration expenditure of $9.1 million; and   
- a net tax expense of $20.4 million which includes the derecognition of deferred tax assets for previously recognised 

carried forward tax losses offset by the recognition of a timing deferred tax asset on impairments. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

Results (continued) 

To provide clarity in relation to the operating result of the Group, the following additional unaudited information has 
been presented. 

(i) 2020 Tax adjustments comprise negative $20.6 million for income tax benefits from asset impairments offset by addbacks of $34.1 
million for the derecognition of carried forward tax losses and $14.8 million for current period tax losses not recognised. 

Mt Morgans Gold Operation (MMGO) 

The MMGO achieved full year production of 138,814 ounces of gold at an MMGO All-In Sustaining Cost (“AISC”) of 
$1,619 per ounce (30 June 2019: 138,911 ounces of gold produced). The processing plant milled 2.96 million tonnes 
for the year at a head grade of 1.6 g/t Au and recovery of 92.7%.  

Gold sales revenue of $269.5 million (30 June 2019: $132.6 million) was generated from the sale of 140,946 ounces of 
gold at an average price of $1,912 per ounce (30 June 2019: 75,000 ounces from 1 January at an average price of 
$1,767 per ounce following the achievement of commercial production on 1 January 2019).  Total cost of goods sold 
inclusive of amortisation and depreciation was $264.9 million (30 June 2019: $108.9 million).  The increase in revenue 
and costs compared to the prior year reflects the commencement of commercial production on 1 January 2019. 

(i) The reduction in recovery in FY2020 is due to reporting tails by Fire Assay, FY2019 was from the PAL method. 
(ii) Prior to the commencement of commercial production on 1 January 2019 AISC was not reported.  During this time 

expenditure of an operating nature was capitalised to mine properties in development.  Revenue from the sale of gold was 
treated as pre-production income and credited to capitalised mine properties in development. 

 
 

 2020 
$M 

2019 
$M 

Net (loss)/profit for the year (116.5) 3.0 
Impairment 68.5 - 
Add back: Tax adjustments(i) 28.3 - 
Add back: Loss on derivative financial instruments (put options) 6.8 - 
Add back: Debt refinancing costs  1.2 2.3 

Adjusted unaudited profit / (loss) (11.7) 5.3 

 
UOM 

FY2020 FY2019 Change Change % 

Underground       
Stope Ore Mined  Kt 499 596 (97) (16%) 
Development Ore Mined  Kt 258 241 (17) (7%) 
Mined Ore Grade  g/t 2.8 3.2 (0.4) (12%) 
Contained Gold  oz 68,758 85,520 (16,762) (20%) 

       
Open Pit Operations       

Ore Mined  Kt 2,060 1,997 63 3% 
Mined Ore Grade  g/t 1.1 1.0 (0.1) 10% 
Contained Gold  oz 71,937 64,888 7,049 11% 
Waste Mined  Kbcm 6,708 8,295 (1,587) 19% 

       
Processing       

Ore Milled  Kt 2,964 2,664 300 11% 
Head Grade  g/t 1.6 1.7 (0.1) (6%) 
Recovery(i)  % 92.7% 95.1% (2.4%) (3%) 
Gold recovered  oz 138,814 138,911 (97) (0%) 
Gold Sold  oz 140,946 138,304 (2,642) 2% 
Realised average gold price  A$/oz 1,912 1,752 160 9% 
Gold on Hand  oz 2,980 5,026 (2,046) (41%) 
MMGO AISC(ii)  A$/oz 1,619 - - -% 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

Mt Morgans Gold Operation (MMGO) (continued) 

Mine production at the Jupiter open pit for the year totalled 2,060kt at 1.1 g/t for 71,937 ounces of contained gold. 
Mine planning activities continued during the year, with pre-stripping of the Doublejay open pit commencing during 
April 2020. The initial mining activities involve a cut back of the historical Jupiter open pit and associated waste 
stripping activities.  Preparations for the commencement of mining at the Mt Marven open pit were also progressed 
during the year, with mining commencing during July 2020. 

A total of 70,610 metres of RC grade control drilling was completed during the year, across Heffernans, Doublejay and 
Ganymede pits at Jupiter and at the Mt Marven open pit. 

Underground mine production at Westralia for the year totalled 499kt at 2.8 g/t for 68,758 ounces of contained gold.   
During February 2020, the Company announced a Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve update which included a 40% 
reduction in Mineral Resource at the MMGO from 3.5 million to 2.1 million ounces.  The resource reduction related 
primarily to the Westralia underground mine where the Mineral Resource decreased by 52% from 1.5 million ounces 
to 0.7 million ounces.  As a result of the work undertaken to update the Westralia underground resource, together 
with an assessment of the forecast mine plan, it was announced by the Company that underground production from 
the Westralia mine was scheduled to conclude in December 2020. 

The Group undertook an impairment assessment of the carrying value of its assets at 31 December 2019.  The primary 
impairment indicators were the decision to suspend mining at the Westralia underground mine based on performance 
during the period and the overall reduction in the Group’s Mineral Resources and Reserves.  This gave rise to an 
impairment charge of $68.5 million and a net tax expense of $20.4 million primarily for the derecognition of deferred 
tax assets for previously recognised tax losses offset by the recognition of a timing deferred tax asset on the value of 
the impairments.  Full details of the impairment charge and tax benefit are included in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements.   

Subsequent to year end, the Company ceased mining activities at Westralia in August 2020 ahead of the previously 
scheduled timeline (December 2020), preserving the 195,000 ounce (before 2HFY2020 mining depletion) Ore Reserve 
remaining as part of its optimisation studies.  The decision was made to suspend Westralia early pending a strategic 
review across all underground MMGO operations including the Westralia, Phoenix Ridge and Transvaal deposits as 
well as the Craic project.  An optimisation study has been commissioned with several work streams now underway to 
evaluate the recommencement of underground mining operations. 

As a result of the cessation of mining activities at Westralia four months earlier than planned and the rescheduling of 
the Jupiter open pit, FY2021 production guidance was revised to 110,000-120,000 ounces (previously 120,000-130,000 
ounces).  ASIC guidance for FY2021-2023 was also updated to reflect updated FY2021 production and new expenditure 
for the Mt Marven expansion and Morgans North open pits.   

COVID-19 Response 

The Group has been proactive in its response to the COVID-19 pandemic and has implemented a range of protective 
and preventative measures.  MMGO, through its COVID-19 management plan is continuing to operate unaffected by 
the pandemic, however, a number of changes have been made at the operations such that persons employed at the 
site have reduced exposure to potential sources of COVID-19, are able to abide by social distancing requirements and 
improve hygiene standards.  In a worst-case event requiring a scaling-back of the operation, Dacian has multiple 
strategies that it can initiate including the processing of stockpile material totalling 4.4Mt @ 0.6g/t for 79,000 ounces 
(approximately 19 months of processing material), providing a level of insulation for the business. 

Exploration 

During the year, a total of 38,044 metres of exploration drilling was completed.  The majority of this drilling was 
conducted across the Phoenix Ridge project located 650m north of the Allanson underground deposit. 

On 3 October 2019, the Company announced a Maiden Inferred Mineral Resource for the Phoenix Ridge deposit at 
the MMGO of 481,000t @ 8.1g/t for 125,000 ounces.  During the year, infill drilling continued at Phoenix Ridge as work 
progressed towards a Mineral Resource update with mining studies shortly after.  The Resource was unchanged at 31 
December 2019 and was confirmed in the Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve update announcement to the ASX on 27 
February 2020. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

Financial Position 

The Group held cash on hand as at 30 June 2020 of $52.0 million (30 June 2019: $35.5 million).  As at 30 June 2020, 
the Group has a working capital surplus of $18.3 million (30 June 2019: $21.1 million deficit).   

At 30 June 2020, the Group’s net asset position decreased to $162.6 million (30 June 2019: $184.9 million).  The 
decrease is attributable to a $86.9 million reduction in non-current assets from asset impairments and the 
derecognition of carry forward tax losses offset by a $44.9 million reduction in borrowings, a $22.9 million reduction 
in trade and other payables and a $16.5 million increase in cash and cash equivalents.  

At 30 June 2020, committed hedging totalled 84,589 ounces at a weighted average delivery price of A$2,055 per ounce 
on hedge contracts for delivery over the period to 30 June 2021.  Project Debt Facility repayments during the year 
were made totalling $41.4 million, which reduced outstanding borrowings to $64.1 million at 30 June 2020.    

Corporate 

In October 2019, the Group agreed to purchase 150,000 ounces in deferred premium gold put options at a strike price 
of $2,100 per ounce expiring on 28 February 2020.  These options were purchased at the time the Group and the 
Project Debt Facility Financiers (“the Financiers”) were undertaking a review of certain terms within the Project Debt 
Facility. The options were purchased with the intention of setting a gold price floor such that the Group could 
restructure this hedging on or before 28 February 2020 having completed the review of certain Project Debt Facility 
Agreement terms with its Financiers.  These options were held until expiry on the 28 February 2020.  

In January 2020, at the request of the Financiers, the Group purchased a further 67,608 ounces in deferred premium 
gold put options at a strike price of $2,100 per ounce expiring over the period April 2020 to June 2021.  During the 
June 2020 quarter, 61,338 ounces were terminated early to reduce the overall cost of the regime.  Total losses of $6.8 
million have been recognised on put option fair value movements during the year (30 June 2019: nil).  

During the December 2019 quarter, the Group and its Financiers initiated and completed a review of certain terms 
under the Project Debt Facility.  This resulted in the approval of an updated bank financial model, the re-scheduling of 
debt repayments over the existing tenor to 30 June 2022 and the other associated changes and waivers such that as 
at 31 December 2019 the Group was in financial compliance with its obligations under the Project Debt Facility. 

On 27 February 2020, the Company announced updates to the Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimate and the 
suspension of capital development at the Westralia underground mine resulting in current underground mining 
activities being completed in the period to December 2020.  As a result of these changes, the Group sought and 
received a number of approvals, waivers and concessions from its Financiers in respect to its Project Debt Facility 
Agreement.  This resulted in changes to the debt repayment schedules including the deferral of the $24.7 million debt 
repayment subject to conditions from 31 March 2020 so as to align the Company’s funding plans with the repayment.  
The Group repaid the $24.7 million on 30 April 2020, following the receipt of proceeds from a capital raising. 

In May 2020, the Group completed a placement to institutional and sophisticated investors followed by completion of 
a retail entitlement offer during May 2020, raising a total of $91.4 million (net of transaction costs), marking a 
significant recapitalisation of the Group.   

On 13 July 2020, the Group released an Operational and Corporate Update, providing the market with June 2020 
quarter and full financial year production, an updated three-year outlook to 30 June 2023 and an update on 
underground and exploration strategies for MMGO.  As a consequence of these changes the Group sought and 
received further approvals, waivers and concessions from the Financiers related to financial covenant requirements of 
the Project Debt Facility Agreement.  In addition, the Group breached certain non-financial requirements of the Project 
Debt Facility Agreement for which a waiver has also been received.  These approvals, waivers and concessions were 
provided on the basis that the Group make a $25.0 million debt repayment on 30 September 2020 inclusive of the 
$14.5 million scheduled repayment.  Total Project Debt Facility principal repayments following the capital raise, 
completed in May 2020, total $55.6 million, inclusive of the $25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020.  Following 
the $25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020, the Project Debt Facility balance decreased to $39.1 million. 

The Directors consider the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate based on the cash flow forecasts. The 
achievement of cash flow forecasts is dependent upon the Group achieving forecast targets for gold revenue, mining 
operations and processing activities that are in accordance with management’s plans and forecast gold price and 
foreign exchange assumptions to enable the cash flow forecast to be achieved.  Critical to achieving forecast cash 
flows, and forecast covenant compliance under the Project Debt Facility Agreement, is the Group’s ability to achieve 
forecast gold production in accordance with Board approved forecasts.  
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

Corporate (continued) 

Should the cash flow forecasts and forecast covenant compliance under the Project Debt Facility Agreement not be 
achieved, the Group may require additional waivers, a rescheduling of the delivery of gold forward exchange contracts 
or rescheduling repayments under the Project Debt Facility Agreement with the Financiers, or additional funding which 
may include refinancing the Project Debt Facility with other parties, raising equity or a combination of these options. 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that a suitable funding solution can be secured within the necessary 
timeframe, if required, in light of the current gold sector outlook and the past capacity of the Group to obtain funding 
as required. 

Cash flows 

At the end of the financial year the Group had $52.0 million (30 June 2019: $35.5 million) in cash and had a balance of 
$64.1 million (30 June 2019: $105.5 million) under the Project Debt Facility.  Bullion on hand not sold at balance date 
comprised 2,980 ounces recognised at net realisable value of $5.3 million (30 June 2019: at a cost of $6.5 million).  The 
above gives rise to a net debt position at 30 June 2020 of $6.8 million (30 June 2019: $63.5 million). 

Cash inflows from operating activities for the year were $23.0 million (30 June 2019: $47.2 million).  Cash flows from 
operating activities were impacted by true-up payments to ensure all creditors are aligned with agreed commercial 
terms. 

Cash flow used in investing activities amounted to $46.0 million (30 June 2019: $77.3 million) and mainly comprised 
mine properties, plant and infrastructure expenditure at MMGO.  The decrease resulted in the suspension of mine 
development activities at the Westralia underground mine from the end of February 2020. 

Cash flow from financing activities totalled $39.5 million (30 June 2019: $2.8 million) which during the year included 
proceeds from the placement to institutional and sophisticated investors completed during April 2020 and the retail 
entitlement offer completed during May 2020, raising a total of $91.4 million (net of transaction costs) net of deferred 
premium put option payments of $6.7 million and Project Debt Facility repayments of $41.4 million (30 June 2019: 
$44.5 million). 

Gold sales receipts comprise 140,946 ounces of gold at an average price of $1,912 per ounce (30 June 2019: 75,000 
ounces from 1 January at an average price of $1,767 per ounce).  The Company delivered gold produced into a 
combination of forward contracts and the prevailing spot price.  
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Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

The formal strategic review announced to the ASX on 5 June 2019 concluded during February 2020.  The review 
validated the Group’s strategy to focus on its existing operations, making the necessary changes to establish a 
profitable, sustainable operation with a strengthened balance sheet.  The planned suspension of underground mining 
activities at Westralia (detailed in the preceding section) was an outcome of this review. 

The Group has also developed plans to investigate, assess and establish operations at dormant historical mining areas 
owned by the Group.  The Mt Marven open pit, which commenced mining operations in the September 2020 quarter 
is an example of this. 

During the year, the Group completed a placement to institutional and sophisticated investors followed by completion 
of a retail entitlement offer during May 2020, raising a total of $91.4 million (net of transaction costs), marking a 
significant recapitalisation of the Group.  Following receipt of the capital raising proceeds, the Group repaid $24.7 
million in debt during April 2020, followed by scheduled repayments of $5.9 million during June 2020, leaving total 
debt of $64.1 million at 30 June 2020. 

Other than the matters noted above, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during 
the financial year, not otherwise disclosed in this report. 
 
Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date 

Subsequent to year end, the Company ceased mining activities at Westralia during August 2020 ahead of the previously 
scheduled timeline (December 2020), preserving the 195,000 ounce (before 2HFY2020 mining depletion) Ore Reserve 
remaining as part of its optimisation studies.  As a result of the cessation of mining activities at Westralia four months 
earlier than planned and the rescheduling of the Jupiter open pit, FY2021 production guidance was revised to 110,000-
120,000 ounces (previously 120,000-130,000 ounces). 

As a consequence of these changes the Group sought and received further approvals, waivers and concessions from 
the Financiers related to financial covenant requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement.  In addition, the 
Group breached certain non-financial requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement for which a waiver has also 
been received.  These approvals, waivers and concessions were provided on the basis that the Group make a $25.0 
million debt repayment on 30 September 2020 inclusive of the $14.5 million scheduled repayment.  Total Project Debt 
Facility principal repayments following the capital raise, completed in May 2020, total $55.6 million, inclusive of the 
$25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020.  Following the $25.0 million repayment, on 30 September 2020, the 
Project Debt Facility balance decreased to $39.1 million. 

Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the reporting period and 
the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 
Directors of the Company, to affect substantially the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Group, in subsequent financial years.  
 
Likely Developments and Expected Results 

There are no other likely developments of which the Directors are aware which could be expected to significantly 
affect the results of the Group’s operations in subsequent financial years not otherwise disclosed in the Nature of 
Operations and Principal Activities and Operating and Financial Review or the Events Subsequent to the Reporting 
Date sections of the Directors’ Report. 
 
Environmental Regulation and Performance 

The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to significant conditions and environmental regulations 
under the Commonwealth and Western Australia State Governments. 

So far as the Directors are aware, all activities have been undertaken in compliance with all relevant environmental 
regulations. 
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Officer’s Indemnities and Insurance 

During the year, the Company paid an insurance premium to insure certain officers of the Company.  The officers of 
the Company covered by the insurance policy include the Directors named in this report.  

The Directors and Officers Liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses that may be incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings that fall within the scope of the indemnity and that may be brought against the 
officers in their capacity as officers of the Company.  The insurance policy does not contain details of the premium 
paid in respect of individual officers of the Company.  Disclosure of the nature of the liability cover and the amount of 
the premium is subject to a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy. 

The Company has not provided any insurance for an auditor of the Company. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Group is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or part of those proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Group with leave of the Court under section 237 
of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Non-audit services 

During the year KPMG, the Group auditor, provided the following non-audit services. The directors are satisfied that 
the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed 
by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor 
independence was not compromised. 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $ $ 

Non-audit related services(i)  93,150 - 

Total  93,150 - 

(i) Relates to Investigating Accountant services for the capital raising in May 2020. 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act is attached  
to the Directors’ Report. 
 
Rounding off 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Instrument 2016/191 dated 24 March 2016 and in accordance with that 
instrument, amounts in the Financial Statements and Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 

Remuneration paid to Directors and Officers of the Group is set by reference to such payments made by other ASX 
listed companies of a similar size and operating in the mining and mineral exploration industry.  In addition, reference 
is made to the specific skills and experience of the Directors and Officers. 

Details of the nature and amount of remuneration of each Director, and other Key Management Personnel if 
applicable, are disclosed annually in the Company’s Annual Report. 

Key Management Personnel 

Details of the Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company and their movements during the year ended 30 
June 2020 are set out below: 
 

Mr Ian Cochrane (i) (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Leigh Junk (ii) (Managing Director & CEO) 
Mr Barry Patterson (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Robert Reynolds (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Grant Dyker (iii) (Chief Financial Officer) 
Mr James Howard (iv) (Chief Operating Officer) 
Rohan Williams (v)               (Executive Chairman) 
 
(i) Ian Cochrane was a Non-Executive Director until his appointment as Chairman on 6 January 2020. 
(ii) Leigh Junk was appointed on 6 January 2020 and continues in office at the date of this report.  
(iii) Grant Dyker resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer subsequent to year end on 15 July 2020. 
(iv) James Howard was appointed Chief Operating Officer from 1 March 2020 coinciding with his appointment as KMP. 

Mr Howard previously held the role of Project Manager. 
(v) Rohan Williams was Executive Chairman from the beginning of the financial year until his retirement on 6 January 

2020. 

Remuneration & Nomination Committee 

The Board has adopted a formal Remuneration & Nomination Committee Charter which provides a framework for the 
consideration of remuneration matters. 

The Remuneration & Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to the Board 
which has ultimate responsibility for the following remuneration matters: 

1. Setting remuneration packages for Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other KMP; and 
2. Implementing employee incentive and equity based plans and making awards pursuant to those plans. 

Non-Executive Remuneration 

The Company’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors, at rates comparable to other ASX listed companies in 
the same industry, for their time, commitment and responsibilities. 

Non-Executive Remuneration is not linked to the performance of the Company, however, to align Directors’ interests 
with shareholders’ interests, remuneration may be provided to Non-Executive Directors in the form of equity based 
long-term incentives. 

1. Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are set within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders at the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting; 

2. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are payable in the form of cash and superannuation benefits; 
3. Non-Executive superannuation benefits are limited to statutory superannuation entitlements; and 
4. Participation in equity based remuneration schemes by Non-Executive Directors is subject to consideration and 

approval by the Company’s shareholders. 

The maximum Non-Executive Directors’ fees, payable in aggregate, are currently set at $500,000 per annum. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (Continued) 

Executive Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

Executive remuneration consists of base salary, plus other performance incentives to ensure that: 

1. Remuneration packages incorporate a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting short and long term 
performance objectives appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and objectives; and 

2. A proportion of remuneration is structured in a manner to link reward to corporate and individual performances. 

Executives are offered a competitive level of base salary at market rates (based on comparable ASX listed companies) 
and are reviewed regularly to ensure market competitiveness. 

Use of Remuneration Consultants 

To date the Company has not engaged external remuneration consultants to advise the Board on remuneration 

matters. 

Incentive Plans 

The Company provides long-term incentives to Directors and Employees pursuant to the Dacian Gold Limited 
Employee Option Plan, which was last approved by shareholders on 26 November 2018.  Short term incentives are 
also awarded to Employees to align remuneration with the strategy and performance of the Company. 

The Board, acting in remuneration matters: 

1. Ensures that incentive plans are designed around appropriate and realistic performance targets and provide 
rewards when those targets are achieved; 

2. Reviews and improves existing incentive plans established for employees; and 

3. Approves the administration of the incentive plans, including receiving recommendations for, and the 
consideration and approval of grants pursuant to such incentive plans. 

Engagement of Non-Executive Directors 

Non-Executive Directors conduct their duties under the following terms: 

1. A Non-Executive Director may resign from his/her position and thus terminate their contract on written notice 
to the Company; and 

2. A Non-Executive Director may, following resolution of the Company’s shareholders, be removed before the 
expiration of their period of office (if applicable).  Payment is made in lieu of any notice period if termination is 
initiated by the Company, except where termination is initiated for serious misconduct. 

In consideration of the services provided by Mr Robert Reynolds and Mr Barry Patterson as Non-Executive Directors, 
the Company will pay them $80,000 plus statutory superannuation per annum. 

In consideration of the services provided by Mr Ian Cochrane as Non-Executive Chairman, the Company will pay 
$150,000 inclusive of statutory superannuation per annum. Prior to Mr Cochrane being appointed Non-Executive 
Chairman, the Company paid him $80,000 inclusive of statutory superannuation per annum. 

Messrs Cochrane, Reynolds and Patterson are also entitled to fees for other amounts as the Board determines where 
they perform special duties or otherwise perform extra services or make special exertions on behalf of the Company.  

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Company incurred no costs in respect of additional services provided 
by Directors.  
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

Engagement of Executive Directors 

Mr Leigh Junk 

The terms of Mr Leigh Junk’s Executive Services Agreement governing his role as Managing Director and CEO were 
disclosed via the ASX platform on 20 December 2019 and are summarised below. 

In respect of his engagement as Managing Director and CEO, Mr Junk will receive a salary of $602,250 per annum 
inclusive of statutory superannuation (Total Fixed Remuneration).  Any increase in salary is subject to the discretion of 
the Board. 

Mr Junk is eligible to participate in the Company’s short-term incentive program, with the reward in the form of a cash 
bonus up to 40% of Base Salary.  The reward of short-term incentives is associated with operational key performance 
indicators (KPIs) as determined by the Board.  Accordingly, 100% of the short-term incentive is at risk. 

Mr Junk may participate in the Company’s long-term incentive program which provides for performance rights to be 
issued under the Company’s Performance Rights Plan up to a maximum annual incentive of 120% of Base Salary.  
Performance Rights issued are subject to measurement against performance criteria.  Accordingly, 100% of the long-
term incentive is at risk. 

Mr Junk’s Executive Services Agreement also included a one-off on boarding issue of 191,856 shares and a further 
191,856 shares contingent to his continuing employment 6 months after his commencement date.  The second tranche 
of shares were issued on 1 September 2020. 

The Company or Mr Junk may terminate the contract at any time by the giving of six months’ notice.  Mr Junk may be 
required to serve out all or part of this notice period or be paid in lieu of notice at the Board’s election. 

Mr Rohan Williams 

The terms of Mr Rohan Williams’ Executive Services Agreement governing his role as Executive Chairman and CEO 
prior to his resignation on 6 January 2020 are summarised below. 

In respect of his engagement as Executive Chairman and CEO, Mr Williams received a salary of $629,625 per annum 
inclusive of statutory superannuation (Total Fixed Remuneration).  Any increase in salary is subject to the discretion of 
the Board. 

The Company or Mr Williams may terminate the contract at any time by the giving of six months’ notice.  In addition, 
there are certain specific termination notice periods applicable to Company change of control events or ill health.  The 
Company may elect to pay Mr Williams in lieu of part or all of the notice period specified in the contract. 

Mr Williams may also receive a short-term performance based reward in the form of a cash bonus up to 40% of the 
Total Fixed Remuneration.  The performance criteria, assessment and timing of which are determined at the discretion 
of the Board. 

Mr Williams may participate in the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan and other long-term incentive plans 
adopted by the Board. 

On Mr Williams’ resignation on 6 January 2020, termination payments totalling $314,813 in lieu of notice were paid.  

Shareholding Qualifications 

The Directors are not required to hold any shares in Dacian Gold Limited under the terms of the Company’s 

constitution. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

Engagement of Executives 

Mr Grant Dyker 

The terms of Mr Dyker’s employment contract governing his role as Chief Financial Officer, are summarised below. 

In respect of his engagement as Chief Financial Officer, Mr Dyker will receive a salary of $383,250 per annum inclusive 
of statutory superannuation (Total Fixed Remuneration).  

The Company or Mr Dyker may terminate the contract at any time by the giving of six months’ notice.   In addition, 
there are certain specific termination notice periods applicable to Company change of control events or ill health.  The 
Company may elect to pay Mr Dyker in lieu of part or all of the notice period specified in the contract. 

Mr Dyker may be invited to participate in short-term and long-term incentive schemes.  The performance criteria, 
percentage of base salary, assessment and timing of which are determined at the discretion of the Board. 

Mr Dyker may participate in the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan and other long-term incentive plans 
adopted by the Board. 

Mr Dyker resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer subsequent to year end on 15 July 2020. 
 
Mr James Howard 

Mr Howard previously held the role of Project Manager until his appointment of Chief Operating Officer on 1 March 
2020. The terms of Mr Howard’s employment contract governing his role as Chief Operating Officer are summarised 
below. 

In respect of his engagement as Chief Operating Officer, Mr Howard will receive a salary of $383,250 per annum 
inclusive of statutory superannuation (Total Fixed Remuneration).  

The Company or Mr Howard may terminate the contract at any time by the giving of three months’ notice.   In addition, 
there are certain specific termination notice periods applicable to Company change of control events or ill health.  The 
Company may elect to pay Mr Howard in lieu of part or all of the notice period specified in the contract. 

Mr Howard may be invited to participate in short-term and long-term incentive schemes.  The performance criteria, 
percentage of base salary, assessment and timing of which are determined at the discretion of the Board.  

Mr Howard may participate in the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan and other long-term incentive plans 
adopted by the Board.  

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2019 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) 

At the last AGM 75.94% of the shareholders voted to adopt the remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2019.  
The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices. 

Consequences of Company Performance on Shareholder Wealth 

The Company aims to align executive remuneration to strategic and business objectives and the creation of 
shareholder wealth.  The table below outlines indicators of Company performance over the last five years as required 
by the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

2018 
$’000 

2017 
$’000 

2016 
$’000 

Revenue $270,047 $132,821 - - - 

Net profit/(loss) after tax ($116,464) $3,018 ($5,402) ($18,858) ($21,833) 

Net assets $162,642 $184,875 $132,866 $134,313 $13,259 

Share Price $0.44 $0.53 $2.85 $1.98 $2.90 

Market Capitalisation $244,756 $119,628 $586,658 $399,430 $386,588 

These indicators are not always consistent with those used to determine variable amounts of remuneration awarded 
to KMP, as discussed below.  As a result, there may not always be a correlation between these statutory performance 
indicators and the quantum of variable remuneration awarded to KMP.   
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

In accordance with the Company’s objective to ensure that executive remuneration is competitive and performance 
focused, a portion of Executives’ remuneration is placed “at risk”.  The relative proportion of target FY20 and actual 
FY20 total remuneration packages split between fixed and variable remuneration is shown below.   

Target Remuneration Mix 

 

The on-boarding rights awarded to Leigh Junk and the retention bonus paid to Grant Dyker have been excluded from 
the target remuneration analysis above.  Refer to ‘Shares Granted as Remuneration’ and ‘Short-Term Incentives’ 
sections below for further discussion. 

Actual Remuneration Mix 
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

Short-Term Incentives 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee may, at its sole discretion, set the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) 
for the Executive Directors or other Executive Officers.  The KPIs are chosen to align the reward of the individual 
Executives to the strategy and performance of the Company.  Performance objectives, which may be financial or non-
financial, or a combination of both, are determined by the Board.  No short-term incentives are payable to Executives 
where it is considered that the actual performance has fallen below the minimum requirement. 

The Short Term Incentive (“STI”) plan provides eligible employees with the opportunity to earn a cash bonus if certain 
financial hurdles and agreed key KPIs are achieved.  The board has determined that the Company will not pay an STI if 
there is a fatality within the business and the Company, as a whole, is not cash-flow positive in any relevant 
performance period, which takes into account any repayment of scheduled debt obligations. 

All KMP are eligible to participate in the STI plan with awards capped at 100% of the target opportunity.  The target 
opportunity for KMP is 40% of total fixed remuneration for the Managing Director and 30% for other KMP.  A summary 
of the KPI targets which are assessed on a quarterly basis for FY20 and their respective weightings is as follows: 

KPI Weighting Measure 

1. Safety & Environment 20% • Leading Indicators, Field Interactions, High Impact Frequency 
audits and critical risk reviews completed 

• Investigations relating to safety and environmental incidents which 
occurred have been closed out 

2. Production 40% Production is at least that which is forecasted in the budget and / or 
performance period 

3. Costs 40% Production occurs at or below the forecast / budget AISC 

Based on an assessment, STI payments for FY20 to Executives were as follows: 

Name Position Maximum STI 
opportunity 

Achieved STI Awarded 
STI 

Rohan Williams Executive Chairman & CEO 40% of TFR 25% $57,500 

Grant Dyker Chief Financial Officer 30% of TFR 25% $26,250 

James Howard (i) Chief Operating Officer 30% of TFR 0% $- 

(i)  Mr Howard was appointed to Chief Operating Officer on 1 March 2020. 

The achieved STI was in respect of the September 2019 quarter where the KPI metrics were met.   

In addition to the amounts detailed in the table above, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee awarded a 
retention bonus to Grant Dyker of $175,000 (representing 50% of TFR).  The retention bonus which was offered in 
August 2019 related to continuing employment during the strategic review process which was announced to the 
market on 5 June 2019.  The review process was completed in February 2020 following the release to the market of 
the updated 3 year production outlook.  

Long-Term Incentives 

Under the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option plan, performance rights are made to executives to align 
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth.  Historically options were also issued to KMP under the same 
plan.  
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

Options over Unissued Shares 

No options were granted during the 2019 and 2020 financial years.  No options lapsed during the 2020 financial year.  
The table below outlines movements in options during 2020 and the balance held by each KMP at 30 June 2020.   

The options were granted free of charge and are exercisable at a fixed price in accordance with the Plan.  Options 
issued under the Plan have vesting periods prior to exercise, except under certain circumstances whereby options may 
be capable of exercise prior to the expiry of the vesting period.  

Name Grant date 

Number 
of 

options 
held at 1 
July 2019 

Fair 
value of 
options 

Exercise 
price 

Vesting 
date Expiry date 

Number 
vested & 

Exercisable 

Number 
exercised 
during the 

year 

Balance 
at the 
end of 

the year 

Rohan 
Williams 

18/11/2014 2,000,000 $201,320 $0.39 18/11/2016 17/11/2019 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - 

Grant 
Dyker 

05/02/2016 750,000 $247,828 $1.16 31/01/2018 31/01/2021 750,000 (750,000) - 

05/02/2016 375,000 $123,914 $1.16 31/01/2019 31/01/2021 375,000 (375,000) - 

05/02/2016 375,000 $123,914 $1.16 31/07/2019 31/01/2021 375,000 (375,000) - 

Ian 
Cochrane 

26/02/2016 300,000 $173,695 $1.44 26/02/2016 28/02/2021 300,000 - 300,000 

Total  3,800,000     3,800,000 (3,500,000) 300,000 

 
All options were granted for nil consideration.  Options lapse if the KMP ceases employment with the Company.  The 
fair value of options is calculated at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option pricing model and allocated to 
each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. 

Exercise of Options Granted as Compensation 

During the year, the following shares were issued on cashless exercise of options previously granted as compensation, 
pursuant to the cashless exercise provision of the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan. 

Name 
Number of options 

exercised 
Number of shares issued 

Amount paid 
 $/share 

Rohan Williams 2,000,000 1,499,893 - 

Grant Dyker 1,500,000 460,298 - 

Performance Rights Granted as Remuneration 

Performance rights were introduced during the 2017 financial year with effect from October 2016.  

Performance rights were issued to KMP during the 2020 financial year pursuant to the Dacian Gold Limited Employee 
Option Plan. No performance rights were issued during the 2019 financial year. 

The performance rights are granted for nil consideration and vest subject to certain operational and market 
performance conditions being met. The fair value of the performance rights granted were determined using Monte 
Carlo simulation, a review of historical share price volatility and correlation of the share price of the Company to its 
Peer Group.  The fair value is allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. 

During the year the Company issued 8,428,962 Performance Rights to KMP in respect of the LTI component of their 
FY20 remuneration.   

Name 
Maximum LTI 
Opportunity 

Number of Performance Rights 
granted during FY20 

Fair Value of 
Performance Rights 

Leigh Junk(i) 
120% of total fixed 

remuneration 
8,333,334 $0.42 

Grant Dyker 
50% of total fixed 

remuneration 
95,628 $1.04 

(i) The performance rights issued to Mr Junk were approved by shareholders on 16 June 2020. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (continued) 

Performance Rights Granted as Remuneration (continued) 

During the year the Company issued 9,934,353 Performance Rights to employees (including 8,428,962 Performance 
Rights to KMP) in respect of the LTI component of their FY20 remuneration. The table below outlines the movements 
in performance rights during the 2020 financial year and the balance held by each Executive at 30 June 2020. 

Name 
Balance at  
1 July 2019 

Granted in 
FY20 Vested Lapsed Other (i) 

Balance at 
30 June 2020 

Leigh Junk - 8,333,334 - - - 8,333,334 

Grant Dyker 76,296 95,628 (45,338) (15,479) - 111,107 

James Howard - - - - 111,107 111,107 

Total 76,296 8,428,962 (45,338) (22,669) 111,107 8,555,548 

(i) Relates to performance rights held at the date of Mr Howard’s appointment to Chief Operating Officer on 1 March 
2020. 

On vesting, each right automatically converts to one ordinary share.  If the employee ceases employment before the 
rights vest, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited circumstances that are approved by the Board. 

The tables below detail the terms and conditions of the grant and the assumptions used in estimating fair value for 
performance rights issued to KMP during the 2020 financial year. 

Item         

Grant date 23 August 
2019 

23 August 
2019 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

KMP G Dyker/ 
 J Howard 

G Dyker/ 
J Howard 

L Junk L Junk L Junk L Junk L Junk L Junk 

Number of rights 64,071/ 
64,071 

31,557/ 
31,557 

916,667 1,861,111 916,667 1,861,111 916,667 1,861,111 

Value of underlying security 
at grant date 

$1.09 $1.09 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 

Fair value $1.014 $1.09 $0.465 $0.378 $0.465 $0.403 $0.465 $0.421 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Risk free rate 0.73% 0.73% 0.26% 0.26% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 

Volatility 55% 55% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 

Performance period (years) 1 1 3 3 4 4 5 5 

Commencement of 
measurement period 

1 July 
2019 

1 July 
2019 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

Test date 1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

30 June 
2023 

30 June 
2023 

30 June 
2024 

30 June 
2024 

30 June 
2025 

30 June 
2025 

Remaining performance 
period (years) 

- - 3 3 4 4 5 5 

The performance rights granted to Mr Dyker and Mr Howard are subject to certain operational and market 
performance conditions being met, are subject to a 12 month service condition, and vest 1 year from the measurement 
date. The number of performance rights that vest will be subject to the Company’s performance against total 
shareholder return and company performance vesting conditions. 

The performance rights granted to Mr Junk are subject to certain operational and market performance conditions 
being met and will vest at the measurement date. The number of performance rights that vest will be subject to the 
Company’s performance against total shareholder return and Company performance vesting conditions. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (Continued) 

Performance Rights Granted as Remuneration (continued) 

Tranche Amount Weighting Performance Conditions 

Grant Dyker / 
James 
Howard 

64,071/64,071 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile (measured over 
a 1 year period to 1 July 2020) 

31,557/31,557 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 1 year period to 1 July 2020) 

Leigh Junk 1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile (measured over 
the 3 year period to 30 June 2023) 

916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 3 year period to 30 June 2023) 

1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile (measured over 
the 4 year period to 30 June 2024) 

916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 4 year period to 30 June 2024) 

1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile (measured over 
the 5 year period to 30 June 2025) 

916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 5 year period to 30 June 2025) 

The Company’s TSR performance for all share rights on issue during the financial year ending, are assessed against 
peer group companies. 

Shares Granted as Remuneration  

During the financial year the Company issued Mr Junk a one-off on-boarding issue of 191,856 shares. Mr Junk was 
issued a further 191,856 shares subject to continuing employment 6 months after commencement date.  This award 
is considered a once off sign on bonus and therefore does not represent a defined percentage of salary.  The terms of 
the share issue and fair value were as follows: 

- Tranche 1: 191,856 shares (fair value of $314,417 using a 5 day VWAP prior to the date of award), issued on 
commencement date of 6 January 2020; 

- Tranche 2: 191,856 shares (fair value of $314,417 using a 5 day VWAP prior to the date of award), issued on 1 
September 2020. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (Continued) 

Remuneration Disclosures 

The details of the remuneration of each Director and member of KMP of the Company for the years ending 30 June 
2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

2020 Short-term Post 
employment 

Termination 
benefits 

Long-term Share-based 
payment 

  

Cash 
Salary (i) 

Cash 
Bonus (ii) 

Super-
annuation 

 Long 
Service 
Leave 

Share rights 
(iii) & options 

(iv) 

Total Performance 
Related 

$ $ $  $ $ $ % 

L Junk(v) 295,492 - 25,790 - 246 1,060,277 1,381,805 76.7% 

R Williams(vi) 311,712 57,500 13,340 314,813 (63,973) - 633,392 9.1% 

I Cochrane 110,981 - 6,981 - - - 117,962 - 

B Patterson 80,000 - 7,600 - - - 87,600 - 

R Reynolds 80,000 - 7,600 - - - 87,600 - 

G Dyker 377,894 201,250 18,523 - 8,749 84,466 690,882 41.4% 

J Howard (vii) 134,949 - 3,124 - 4,049 29,052 171,174 17.0% 

Total 1,391,028 258,750 82,958 314,813 (50,929) 1,173,795 3,170,415 45.2% 

 
2019 Short-term Post 

employment 
Long-term Share-based 

payment 
  

Cash Salary 
(ii) 

Cash Bonus 
(ii) 

Super-
annuation 

Long Service 
Leave 

Share rights (iii) 
& options (iv) 

Total Performance 
Related 

$ $ $ $ $ $ % 

R Williams 584,734 230,000 25,000 15,094 371,433 1,226,261 49.0% 

I Cochrane 80,000 - 7,600 - - 87,600 - 

B Patterson 80,000 - 7,600 - - 87,600 - 

R Reynolds 80,000 - 7,600 - - 87,600 - 

G Dyker 355,814 87,500 20,172 2,424 134,197 600,107 36.9% 

Total 1,180,548 317,500 67,972 17,518 505,630 2,089,168 39.4% 

(i) Salary includes movements in annual leave provision during the year.  Entitlements cashed out above the minimum 
statutory superannuation threshold have been included in salaries. 

(ii) Cash bonus paid is inclusive of superannuation. Superannuation contributions on bonuses which exceed the 
minimum statutory superannuation threshold that are cashed out have been included in the cash bonus. Cash 
bonus paid to Mr Dyker is inclusive of a $175,000 retention bonus.  Refer to discussion on Short-Term Incentives 
for further detail on this retention bonus. 

(iii) The fair value of performance rights is calculated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation, a review of 
historical share price volatility and correlation of the share price of the Company to its Peer Group.  The fair value 
is allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.  The value disclosed 
in the above table is the portion of the fair value of the performance rights recognised in the reporting period. 

(iv) The fair value of options is calculated at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option pricing model and allocated 
to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date.  The value disclosed in the above 
table is the portion of the fair value of the options recognised in the reporting period. 

(v) Mr Junk was appointed Managing Director and CEO on 6 January 2020. 

(vi) Mr Williams was the CEO and Executive Chairman until his retirement on 6 January 2020. 

(vii) Mr Howard was appointed Chief Operating Officer on 1 March 2020. 
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Remuneration Report Audited (Continued) 

Shareholdings 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by KMP of the Company, including their related 
parties, are set out below.  

 
Name 

Balance at start of 
the year 

Vested and issued as 
remuneration 

Other changes 
during the period(ii) 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

Leigh Junk - 191,856 575,364 767,220 

Rohan Williams (i) 8,317,851 1,664,893 (9,982,744) - 

Ian Cochrane 265,295 - 265,295 530,590 

Barry Patterson 8,954,987 - 10,960,320 19,915,307 

Robert Reynolds 2,730,555 - 333,333 3,063,888 

Grant Dyker 137,455  505,636 (182,793) 460,298 

James Howard - - - - 

(i) Mr Williams was the CEO and Executive Chairman until his retirement on 6 January 2020. 
(ii) Relates to on market purchases / sales during the year or movements upon appointment / cessation as a KMP. 

Loans Made to Key Management Personnel 

No loans were made to key personnel, including personally related entities during the reporting period. 

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, services totalling $74,523 (30 June 2019: $216,042) were provided on normal 
commercial terms to the Group by Perenti Global and its subsidiaries (previously Ausdrill Limited), of which Mr 
Cochrane is Non-Executive Chairman.  The services provided related to open pit grade control drilling and mineral 
analysis.  Mr Cochrane was not party to any contract negotiations for either party. 

Other than the above, there have been no other transactions with, and no amounts are owing to or owed by KMP. 
 
End of Remuneration Report 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act is set out 
on the following page. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 
DATED at Perth this 30th day of September 2020. 
 

 

 
Leigh Junk 

Managing Director & CEO 

 

  



 

 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

To the Directors of Dacian Gold Limited  

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Dacian Gold Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

  

KPMG Graham Hogg 

Partner  

Perth 

30 September 2020 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Consolidated 

 
 

 30 June  
2020 

30 June  
2019 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    
Revenue 2 270,047 132,821 

Cost of goods sold 3 (264,996) (108,943) 

Gross Profit 
 5,051 23,878 

 
   

Corporate employee expenses 3 (3,985) (3,632) 

Share-based employee expense 21 (1,712) (760) 

Borrowing and finance costs 3 (6,644) (4,946) 

Exploration costs expensed and written off 12 (9,148) (12,247) 

Losses on derivative instruments 10 (6,808) - 

Other expenses 3 (4,304) (3,625) 

Impairment loss on assets 14 (68,537) - 

Loss before income tax  (96,087) (1,332) 

Income tax (expense) / benefit 4 (20,377) 4,350 

Net (loss) / profit for the year attributable to the 
members of the parent entity 

 
(116,464) 3,018 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive (loss) / profit for the year 
attributable to the members of the parent entity 

19 (116,464) 3,018 

Profit / (loss) per share    
Basic (loss) / earnings per share attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent (cents per share) 

5 (40.6) 1.4 

Diluted (loss) / earnings per share attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent (cents per share) 

5 (40.6) 1.3 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 
 

  Consolidated 

  30 June  
2020 

30 June  
2019 

 Note $’000 $’000 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 51,976 35,515 

Receivables 8 3,179 5,173 

Inventories 9 20,382 20,674 

Derivative financial instruments 10 45 - 

Total current assets  75,582 61,362 

    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 11 107,205 130,858 

Exploration and evaluation assets 12 4,072 4,072 

Mine properties 13 84,486 142,763 

Deferred tax assets 20 13,374 32,573 

Total non-current assets  209,137 310,266 

Total assets  284,719 371,628 

    
Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 15 21,016 43,954 

Provisions 16 1,420 1,151 

Borrowings 17 34,585 37,395 

Other financial liabilities 10 261 - 

Total current liabilities  57,282 82,500 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Provisions 16 21,195 18,608 

Borrowings 17 43,600 85,645 

Total non-current liabilities  64,795 104,253 

Total liabilities  122,077 186,753 

Net assets  162,642 184,875 

    
Equity    

Issued capital 19 338,904 244,513 

Share-based payments reserve 19 2,250 3,007 

Accumulated losses 19 (178,512) (62,645) 

Total equity  162,642 184,875 

    
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

   Consolidated 

 

Note Issued 
capital  

 
$’000 

Share reserve  
 
 

$’000 

Accumulated 
losses 

 
$’000 

Attributable to 
owners of the 

parent 
$’000 

 Balance at 1 July 2018 
 

195,187 3,516 (65,837) 132,866 

Reported profit for the year  - - 3,018 3,018 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - 

Total comprehensive profit for the year  - - 3,018 3,018 

Shares issued  48,429 - - 48,429 

Share issue transaction costs  (1,868) - - (1,868) 

Options exercised (cash)  1,670 - - 1,670 

Options exercised (non-cash)  458 (458) - - 

Performance rights exercised  637 (637) - - 

Performance rights forfeited  - (174) 174 - 

Share-based payments expense  - 760 - 760 

Balance at 30 June 2019 19 244,513 3,007 (62,645) 184,875 

Reported loss for the year  - - (116,464) (116,464) 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - 

Total comprehensive profit for the year  - - (116,464) (116,464) 

Shares issued  98,351 - - 98,351 

Share issue transaction costs  (7,011) - - (7,011) 

Deferred tax on share issue costs  1,179 - - 1,179 

Options exercised (non-cash)  761 (761) - - 

Performance rights exercised  796 (796) - - 

Performance rights forfeited  - (597) 597 - 

Share-based payments expense  315 1,397 - 1,712 

Balance at 30 June 2020 19 338,904 2,250 (178,512) 162,642 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

(i) Consideration paid to terminate a Jupiter life-of-mine royalty obligation accrued in the prior year. 
 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 

  Consolidated 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

 Note $’000 $’000 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

Gold sales  269,489 132,550 

Interest received  330 1,046 

Other income  557 272 

Interest paid  (5,263) (3,229) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (8,820) (13,009) 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (233,334) (70,444) 

Net cash from operating activities 7 22,959 47,186 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

   

Payments for mine properties expenditure (2019: net of 
pre-production revenue) 

 (43,085) (59,496) 

Payments for plant and equipment  (2,993) (3,432) 

Payments for capitalised interest during development  - (2,894) 

Payments to acquire exploration assets(i)  - (11,500) 

Proceeds from sale of assets  45 - 

Net cash from investing activities  (46,033) (77,322) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

   

Proceeds from issue of share capital  98,351 48,330 

Proceeds from issue of options  - 1,670 

Share issue transaction costs  (6,954) (1,948) 

Repayment of borrowings  (41,400) (44,500) 

Transaction costs associated with borrowings  (1,269) (767) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (2,481) - 

Premiums paid on put options  (6,712) - 

Net cash from financing activities  39,535 2,785 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  16,461 (27,351) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7 35,515 62,866 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 51,976 35,515 
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Basis of Preparation  

Dacian Gold Limited (“Dacian” or the “Company”) is a for profit company limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange. 

A description of the nature of operations and principal activities of Dacian and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”) is included in the Directors’ Report, which is not part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 
2020. 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which: 

- has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian 
Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (“AASB”) and complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”); 

- has been prepared on a historical cost basis except for assets and liabilities and share-based payments which 
are required to be measured at fair value.  The basis of measurement is discussed further in the individual 
notes; 

- is presented in Australian dollars with all values rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless 
otherwise stated, in accordance with ASIC Instrument 2016/191; 

- adopts all new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant 
to the operations of the Group and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019.  Refer 
to note 28 for further details; 

- does not early adopt Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are 
not yet effective.  Refer to note 28 for further details. 

Going Concern Basis for Preparation of Financial Statements 

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business.  

The Group held cash on hand as at 30 June 2020 of $52.0 million (30 June 2019: $35.5 million).  As at 30 June 2020 the 
Group has a working capital surplus of $18.3 million (30 June 2019: $21.1 million deficit). 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 the Group incurred a loss after income tax of $116.5 million including impairments 
of $68.5 million, losses on derivative financial instruments of $6.8 million and a net income tax expense of $20.4 million 
relating to the derecognition of deferred tax assets.  Cash inflows from operating activities were $23.0 million and cash 
outflows from investing activities were $46.0 million.  Investing outflows included mine development expenditure of 
$43.1 million.  At 30 June 2020 the Group held total assets of $284.7 million and net assets of $162.6 million. 

Cash flows for the year have been impacted by lower than expected gold production, continued capital investment in 
waste stripping activities at the Doublejay open pit and the cost of deferred premium options which were put into 
place at the request of the Project Debt Facility Financiers (“the Financiers”).    

During February 2020, the Group announced two material changes to its business and future plans, being a reduction 
to its Mineral Resources and Reserves and to immediately suspend capital development at the Westralia underground 
mine resulting in current underground mining activities concluding in August 2020.  As a consequence of these 
changes, the Group sought and received a number of approvals, waivers and concessions from the Financiers.  A 
further rescheduling of debt repayments was agreed with Financiers in March 2020 to align debt repayments with the 
updated forecast mine plan and cash flow which included the deferral of the $24.7 million debt repayment from 31 
March 2020 to on or before 30 April 2020, so as to align the Company’s funding plans with the repayment. 
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Basis of Preparation (continued) 

Going Concern Basis for Preparation of Financial Statements (continued) 

The Group completed a placement and accelerated entitlement offer to institutional and sophisticated investors 
followed by completion of a retail entitlement offer during May 2020, raising a total of $91.4 million (net of transaction 
costs), marking a significant recapitalisation of the Group.  The capital raising proceeds were used to repay the deferred 
$24.7 million debt repayment on 30 April 2020 and provide additional working capital to fund operations, the 
development of the Doublejay open pit and fund ongoing exploration activities.   

Subsequent to year end, the Group ceased mining activities at Westralia in August 2020 ahead of the previously 
scheduled timeline (December 2020), preserving the 195,000 ounce (before 2HFY2020 mining depletion) Ore Reserve 
remaining as part of its optimisation studies.  As a result of the cessation of mining activities at Westralia four months 
earlier than planned and the rescheduling of the Jupiter open pit, FY2021 production guidance was revised to 110,000-
120,000 ounces (previously 120,000-130,000 ounces). 

As a consequence of these changes the Group sought and received further approvals, waivers and concessions from 
the Financiers related to financial covenant requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement.  In addition, the 
Group breached certain non-financial requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement for which a waiver has also 
been received.  These approvals, waivers and concessions were provided on the basis that the Group make a $25.0 
million debt repayment on 30 September 2020 inclusive of the $14.5 million scheduled repayment.  Total Project Debt 
Facility principal repayments following the capital raise, completed in May 2020, total $55.6 million, inclusive of the 
$25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020.  Following the $25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020, the 
Project Debt Facility balance decreased to $39.1 million. 

The Directors consider the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate based on the cash flow forecasts. The 
achievement of cash flow forecasts is dependent upon the Group achieving forecast targets for gold revenue, mining 
operations and processing activities that are in accordance with management’s plans and forecast gold price and 
foreign exchange assumptions to enable the cash flow forecast to be achieved.  Critical to achieving forecast cash 
flows, and forecast covenant compliance under the Project Debt Facility Agreement, is the Group’s ability to achieve 
forecast gold production in accordance with Board approved forecasts.  

Should the cash flow forecasts and forecast covenant compliance under the Project Debt Facility Agreement not be 
achieved, the Group may require additional waivers, a rescheduling of the delivery of gold forward exchange contracts 
or rescheduling repayments under the Project Debt Facility Agreement with the Financiers, or additional funding which 
may include refinancing the Project Debt Facility with other parties, raising equity or a combination of these options. 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that a suitable funding solution can be secured within the necessary 
timeframe, if required, in light of the current gold sector outlook and the past capacity of the Group to obtain funding 
as required. 
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Basis of Preparation (continued) 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group.  A list of controlled entities 
(subsidiaries) at year end is contained in note 24. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies.  Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may 
exist. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses 
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated.  Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which control is obtained to the date on which control is disposed.  The acquisition of subsidiaries is 
accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. 

Foreign Currencies 

Both the functional currency of each entity within the Group and the Group’s presentation currency is Australian 
dollars. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Australian dollars at the exchange rate of the day.  Foreign 
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated to Australian dollars at the reporting date exchange rate.  
Foreign exchange gains and losses are generally recognised in the profit or loss. 

Other Accounting Policies 

Significant and other accounting policies that summarise the measurement basis used and are relevant to an 
understanding of the financial statements, are provided throughout the notes to the financial statements.  Where 
possible, wording has been simplified to provide clearer commentary on the financial report of the Group.  Accounting 
policies determined non-significant are not included in the financial statements. 

COVID-19 

As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact Australia and the world, the Group’s focus remains on keeping its 
people well, and maintaining safe and reliable operations. The Group has considered the impact of COVID-19 on 
each of its significant accounting judgements and estimates, particularly with respect to assumptions used in 
determining receivables, impairment of non-current assets and going concern. At this stage, no further significant 
estimates have been identified as a result of COVID-19, however, management is monitoring the increased level of 
uncertainty in all future cash flow forecasts used in asset valuation and financial viability. 

Key Estimates and Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made a number of judgements and 
applied estimates of future events.  Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial report are found in 
the following notes. 

Note 3 Expenses 
Note 9 Inventories 
Note 12 Exploration and evaluation assets 
Note 13 Mine properties 
Note 14 Impairment 
Note 16 Provisions 
Note 20 Deferred tax 
Note 21 Share-based payments 
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Basis of Preparation (continued) 

The Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes include information which is required to understand the financial statements and is material and relevant 
to the operations and the financial position and performance of the Group.  Information is considered relevant and 
material if, for example: 

- the amount is significant due to its size or nature; 
- the amount is important for understanding the results of the Group; 
- it helps to explain the impact of significant changes in the Group’s business; or 
- it relates to an aspect of the Group’s operations that is important to its future performance. 

The notes are organised into the following sections: 
- Performance for the year; 
- Operating assets and liabilities; 
- Capital structure and risk; 
- Other disclosures. 

A brief explanation is included under each section. 
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Performance for the Year 

This section of the notes provides further information on key line items relevant to the financial performance of the 
Group.  It includes profitability, the resultant return to shareholders via earnings per share and dividends. 

 
Note 1 Segment Information 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board 
of Directors in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.   

Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments, where the segments have similar 
characteristics.  The Group’s sole activity is mineral production, exploration and development at the Mt Morgans Gold 
Operation (“MMGO”) wholly within Australia, therefore it has aggregated all operating segments into the one 
reportable segment being mineral production, exploration and development. 

The reportable segment is represented by the primary statements forming these financial statements. 
 

Note 2 Revenue  

Accounting Policies 

Gold Sales 

The Group applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers from 1 July 2018.  

Under AASB 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. Determining the 
timing of the transfer of control requires judgement.  With the sale of gold bullion, this occurs when physical bullion, 
from a contracted sale, is transferred from the Company’s account into the account of the buyer. 

In the prior year, prior to the commencement of commercial production on 1 January 2019, revenue from the sale of 
gold and silver was treated as a pre-production income and credited to capitalised mine properties in development. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $,000 

Revenue from contracts with customers    
Gold Sales  269,489 132,550 
Silver Sales  558 271 

  270,047 132,821 

Gold forward contracts delivery commitments 

The Group enters into gold forward sale contracts and put options to manage the gold price of a proportion of gold 
sales. Further details of put options which are classified at fair value through profit and loss can be found in note 10.  
The treatment of forward sale contracts are discussed further below. 

The forward sale contracts are settled by the physical delivery of gold as per the contract terms. The gold forward sale 
contracts are accounted for as gold sales contracts with revenue recognised once the gold has been delivered to the 
counterparties.  Consistent with the gold sales revenue recognition policy, the physical gold delivery contracts are 
considered to sell a non-financial item and therefore do not fall within the scope of AASB 9: Financial Instruments. 

Gold forward contracts outstanding at balance date are summarised in the table below.  

 Gold for physical 
delivery 

Average contract 
sale price 

Value of 
committed sales 

 oz A$/oz $’000 

Due within 1 year 84,589 2,055 173,854 
Due after 1 year but not more than 5 years - - - 

 84,589 2,055 173,854 
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Note 3 Expenses  

Accounting Policies 

Costs of production 

Cash costs of production is a component of cost of goods sold and includes direct costs incurred for mining, processing 
and mine site administration, net of costs capitalised to mine properties, pre-strip and production stripping assets.  
This category also includes movements in the cost of inventory. 

In the prior year, prior to the commencement of commercial production at the MMGO on 1 January 2019, expenditure 
of an operating nature was capitalised to mine properties in development including cash costs of pre-commercial 
production, depreciation and amortisation. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Cost of goods sold    
Costs of production  202,646 86,924 
Royalties  8,139 3,354 
Depreciation of mine plant and equipment  19,239 8,020 
Amortisation of mine properties  34,972 10,645 

  264,996 108,943 

Depreciation & Amortisation 

Depreciation is calculated on units of production, straight-line or written down value basis over the estimated useful 
life of the assets as follows: 

Class of Fixed Asset   Useful Life 
▪ Office equipment and fixtures  3 - 4 years 
▪ Computer equipment & software 2 - 4 years 
▪ Motor Vehicles   3 years 
▪ Plant and equipment   3 - 10 years / units of production 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

Mine properties are amortised on a unit-of-production basis over the reserve of the relevant mining area.  The unit 
of account is tonnes of ore mined. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Depreciation and Amortisation    
Depreciation expense – recognised in cost of goods sold  19,239 8,020 
Depreciation expense – other  435 224 
Amortisation expense  34,972 10,645 

  54,646 18,889 

Key estimates and assumptions 

Unit-of-production method of depreciation/amortisation 

The Group uses the unit-of-production basis when depreciating / amortising life-of-mine specific assets which results 
in a depreciation / amortisation charge proportionate to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life-of-mine 
production.  Each item’s economic life, which is assessed annually, has due regard for both its physical life limitations 
and to present assessments of the available reserve of the mine property at which it is located. 
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Note 3  Expenses (continued) 

Borrowings and finance costs 

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale.  Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their use or sale.  Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.  In the prior year, prior 
to the commencement of commercial production on 1 January 2019, borrowing costs attributable to the MMGO have 
been capitalised and are amortised over the life of the qualifying asset. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Unwind of rehabilitation and restoration provision  248 94 
Transaction costs (i)  1,780 2,484 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  578 657 
Interest expense on borrowings  4,346 2,757 
Interest income  308 1,046 

  6,644 4,946 

(i) Borrowing costs at 30 June 2019 includes an expense of $2.3 million for previously capitalised transaction costs 
(2020: nil). 

Employee expenses 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Corporate Employee expenses    
Salaries and wages  3,113 2,829 
Director fees and consulting expenses  271 240 
Defined contribution superannuation  317 292 
Other employment expenses  284 271 

  3,985 3,632 

Other expenses 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Other expenses    
Administration & corporate  3,869 3,401 
Non-production depreciation  435 224 

  4,304 3,625 
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Note 4 Income Tax 

Accounting Policy 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

(a) Income Statement 

 
 30 June 

2020 
$’000 

30 June 
2019 

$’000 

Current income tax:    
Current income tax benefit  - (11,997) 

Deferred income tax:    

Tax losses brought to account for the first time  - (9,884) 
Relating to origination and reversal of timing differences  (14,477) 17,531 
Tax losses derecognised  34,138 - 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  716 - 

Income tax expense / (benefit) reported in the Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

 
20,377 (4,350) 

(b) Statement of Changes in Equity 

 
 30 June 

2020 
$’000 

30 June 
2019 

$’000 

Deferred income tax:    

Capital Raising Costs  (1,179) (80) 

(c) Reconciliation of consolidated income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 

 
 30 June 

2020 
$’000 

30 June 
2019 

$’000 

Accounting loss from continuing operations before income 
tax expense 

 
(96,087) (1,332) 

Tax at the Australian rate of 30% (2019: 30%)  (28,826) (400) 
Non-deductible expenses  516 231 

Capital raising costs claimed  (924) (505) 

Tax losses derecognised as deferred tax assets  34,138 - 

Current year tax losses not recognised  14,757  

Adjustment in respect of previous year(i)  716 (3,676) 

Income tax expense / (benefit) reported in Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income  

 
20,377 (4,350) 

(i) Following the commissioning of the treatment plant, management undertook a review of the effective lives of its 
assets which resulted in an income tax benefit in the 2019 financial year. 
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Note 5 Earnings per Share 

Accounting Policy 

Earnings per share (“EPS”) is the amount of post-tax profit attributable to each share.  The Group presents basic and 
diluted EPS data for ordinary shares.  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted EPS takes into account the dilutive effect of all potential ordinary shares, being unlisted employee share 
options and performance rights on issue. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

    
a)  Basic earnings per share  Cents Cents 

(Loss) / (profit) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Company 

  
(40.6) 

 
1.4 

    
b)  Diluted earnings per share    

(Loss) / (profit) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Company 

  
(40.6) 

 
1.3 

 
c) (Loss) / profit used in calculation of basic and diluted loss per 
share 

 $’000 $’000 

(Loss) / profit after tax from continuing operations  (116,464) 3,018 

    
d) Weighted average number of shares  No. No. 

Issued Ordinary shares at 1 July  225,713,403 205,844,814 

Effect of shares issued  60,920,249 18,071,798 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June  286,633,652 223,916,612 

Effect of dilution:    

Share options (i)  - 528,302 

Performance rights (i)  - 299,893 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the 
effect of dilution  

  

286,633,652 

 

224,744,807 

(i) Share options and performance rights of 10,104,712 have been excluded from the 2020 financial year calculation 
as the Company was loss making and their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 

 
Note 6 Dividends 

No dividends were paid or proposed during the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: nil). 
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Operating Assets and Liabilities 

This section of the notes shows cash generation, the assets used to generate the Group’s trading performance and the 
liabilities incurred as a result.  Liabilities relating to the Group’s financing activities are addressed in the Capital 
Structure, Financial Instruments and Risk section (refer to note 17). 
 

Note 7 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Accounting Policy 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand.  Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
deposit rates. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank  51,976 35,515 

  51,976 35,515 

 

Reconciliation of profit / (loss) after tax to net cash flow from operating activities: 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

(Loss) / profit from ordinary activities after income tax  (116,464) 3,018 
Depreciation and amortisation  54,646 18,889 
Net gain on sale of assets  (28) - 
Impairment losses on assets  68,537 - 
Bank facility fees  1,269 - 
Premiums on put options  6,712 - 
Share-based payments expense  1,712 760 
Exploration write-off  - 91 
Derivative financial instruments mark to market  216 - 
Expense of previously capitalised borrowing costs  - 2,349 
Unwind of rehabilitation interest   248 - 
Inventory NRV adjustment  3,902 - 

Movement in assets and liabilities:    
(Increase)/decrease in receivables  1,996 (1,941) 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (3,612) (1,231) 
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets  20,377 (4,349) 
Increase/(decrease) in employee leave provisions  350 231 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (16,902) 29,369 

Net cash flow from operating activities  22,959 47,186 
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Note 8 Receivables 

Accounting Policy 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at the amounts considered receivable (financial 
assets at amortised cost).  Balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets, are not past due and are 
expected to be received when due. 

The Group does not have trade receivables in relation to gold sales.  The only material receivables at year end are for 
GST and fuel tax credits receivable from the Australian Taxation Office and therefore, the Group is not generally 
exposed to credit risk in relation to its receivables. 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate fair value. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Current receivables    
GST receivable  1,837 2,354 
Prepayments  622 2,055 
Other receivables    720 764 

  3,179 5,173 

 

Note 9 Inventories 

Accounting Policy 

Gold bullion, gold-in-circuit and ore stockpiles are physically measured or estimated and valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.   Cost is determined by the weighted average method and comprises direct purchase costs 
and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation, incurred in 
converting ore into gold bullion.  Net realisable value (“NRV”) is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less estimated costs of completion, depreciation, amortisation and the costs of selling the final product, 
including royalties. 

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The cost of consumable stores is measured 
on a first-in first-out basis.  Inventories expected to be sold (or consumed in the case of stores) within 12 months after 
the balance sheet date are classified as current assets, all other inventories are classified as non-current. 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

 $’000 $’000 

ROM inventory – at NRV 3,780 4,635 
Crushed ore – at NRV 1,824 1,462 
Gold in circuit– at NRV 5,773 4,292 
Gold dore – at NRV 5,295 6,464 
Mine spares and stores – at cost 3,710 3,821 

 20,382 20,674 

ROM inventory, crushed ore, gold in circuit and gold dore are valued at the lower of costs and NRV.  The carrying value 
is modelled using assumptions with respect planned usage, future processing costs, and the anticipated gold price 
realised from the delivery of processed inventories into out of the money forward gold contracts.  As a result, the 
Group has recognised a write down to NRV of $3.902 million at 30 June 2020 within cost of goods sold in respect of 
these inventory balances. 
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Note 9  Inventories (continued) 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Inventories 

Net realisable value tests are performed at each reporting date and represent the estimated future sales price of the 
product based on the lower of the prevailing spot metals price or anticipated gold price realised from delivery into 
forward gold sales contracts at the reporting date, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product 
to sale, including depreciation and amortisation. 

Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, the number of 
contained gold ounces based on assay data, and the estimated recovery percentage.  Stockpile tonnages are verified 
by periodic surveys. 
 
Note 10 Derivative Financial Instruments & Other Financial Liabilities 

Accounting Policy 

The put options held by the Group at period end do not qualify for hedge accounting and are therefore classified as 
fair value through profit and loss and accordingly, the fair value movements of all derivatives are recognised in the 
profit and loss.   

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

(a) Derivative Financial Instruments - Assets    
Current Assets:    
Gold put option fair value  45 - 

(b) Other Financial Liabilities    

Current Liabilities:    
Gold put option premium payable  (261) - 

The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to 
fluctuations in foreign exchange and gold price.  

In October 2019, the Group agreed to purchase 150,000 ounces in deferred premium gold put options at a strike price 
of $2,100 per ounce expiring on 28 February 2020.  These options were purchased at the time the Group and Financiers 
were undertaking a review of certain terms within the Project Debt Facility Agreement. The options were purchased 
with the intention of setting a gold price floor such that the Group could restructure this hedging on or before 28 
February 2020 having completed the review of certain Project Debt Facility Agreement terms with its Financiers.  These 
options were held until expiry on the 28 February 2020.  

In January 2020, at the request of the Financiers, the Group purchased a further 67,608 ounces in deferred premium 
gold put options at a strike price of $2,100 per ounce expiring over the period April 2020 to June 2021.  During the 
June 2020 quarter, 61,338 ounces were terminated early to reduce the overall cost of the regime.  Total losses of 
$6.808 million have been recognised on put option fair value movements during the year (30 June 2019: nil).  

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has 5,070 deferred premium gold put options. 

The Group also enters into gold forward contracts. Refer to note 2 for further details of gold forward contracts held at 
30 June 2020.  
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Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Accounting Policy 

The value of property, plant and equipment is measured as the cost of the asset, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment.  The cost of the asset also includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation, the cost 
of major inspections and an initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item from site at the end of 
its useful life (rehabilitation provisions).  Changes in the rehabilitation provisions resulting from changes in the size or 
timing of the cost or from changes in the discount rate are also recognised as part of the asset cost. 

Derecognition and Disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when it is sold or otherwise disposed of, or when its use is 
expected to bring no further economic benefits.  Any gain or loss from derecognising the asset (the difference between 
the proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the period the 
item is derecognised. 

Impairment 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with 
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired.  Refer to note 14 for further discussion of impairment. 

Right-of-use assets 

The Group has lease contracts for various items of laboratory equipment and power infrastructure used in its 
operations as well as the corporate head office premises.  These leases have lease terms between 5 and 8 years.  The 
net book value of leased assets at 30 June 2020 is $13.1 million.  Further information about the leases for which the 
Group is a lessee is presented in the table on the next page.  

The Group also has certain leases of assets with lease terms of 12 months or less for mining equipment and equipment 
for which the assets are of low value. The Group applies the short-term lease and lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemptions for these leases.  
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Note 11 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

 
Office 

Equip & 
Fixtures 

$’000 

Computer 
Equipment 

& 
Software 

$’000 

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000 

Plant & 
Equipment 

$’000 

Leased 
Equipment 

$’000 

Capital 
WIP 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Year ended 30 June 2020        
Cost 284 1,757 2,326 125,439 18,644 242 148,692 

Accumulated depreciation (191) (1,456) (1,880) (32,406) (5,554) - (41,487) 

Net Book Value 93 301 446 93,033 13,090 242 107,205 

 
Movements 

       

Opening net book value 114 659 1,020 113,734 15,145 186 130,858 

Additions(i) 21 177 142 1,447 471 766 3,024 

Disposals - (1) (16) - - - (17) 

Impairment (note 14) - (6) (30) (6,311) - (639) (6,986) 

Transfers - - - 71 - (71) - 

Depreciation expense (42) (528) (670) (15,908) (2,526) - (19,674) 

Closing net book value 93 301 446 93,033 13,090 242 107,205 

 
Year ended 30 June 2019 

       

Cost 263 1,587 2,274 130,232 18,173 186 152,715 

Accumulated depreciation (149) (928) (1,254) (16,498) (3,028) - (21,857) 

Net Book Value 114 659 1,020 113,734 15,145 186 130,858 

 
Movements 

       

Opening net book value 130 1,128 1,668 129,082 17,462 603 150,073 

Additions 30 139 36 2,513 - 186 2,904 

Disposals - - - (54) - - (54) 

Transfers from mine     
development 

- - - (5,065) - (603) (5,668) 

Depreciation expense (42) (361) (375) (6,308) (1,158) - (8,244) 

Depreciation capitalised(ii) (4) (247) (309) (6,434) (1,159) - (8,153) 

Closing net book value 114 659 1,020 113,734 15,145 186 130,858 

(i) Leased Equipment additions includes $0.47 million for right-of-use assets relating to the Group’s head office rental 
agreement recognised on initial implementation of AASB 16: Leases. 

(ii) In the prior year, prior to the commencement of commercial production on 1 January 2019, depreciation has been 
capitalised to mine properties in development (refer to note 13). 
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Note 12 Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Accounting Policy 

Exploration and evaluation costs are expensed in the year they are incurred, apart from acquisition costs and those 
costs that are incurred on an area of interest that contains a JORC Ore Reserve. 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to specific areas of interest continue to be recognised 
as an exploration and evaluation asset where the following conditions are satisfied: 

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 
(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met: 

(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or 

(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a 
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

Exploration and evaluation costs include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and 
sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortisation of assets used in exploration and 
evaluation activities.  General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of exploration and 
evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a particular area of interest. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Deferred exploration costs at the start of the financial year  4,072 4,163 
Exploration and evaluation costs incurred  9,148 12,156 
Exploration and evaluation costs expensed and written off  (9,148) (12,247) 

  4,072 4,072 

 

Impairment 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of the 
exploration and evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than 
the relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.  

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant 
exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to mine properties in 
development. 

No impairment loss (30 June 2019: $0.1m) in relation to exploration and evaluation assets has been recognised during 
the period.  The impairments relates to historical tenement acquisition costs. 
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Note 12 Exploration and Evaluation Assets (continued) 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent upon a number of factors, 
including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the 
related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. 

Factors that could impact future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future technological 
changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration 
obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the 
future, profits and net assets will be reduced in the period in which the determination is made. 

Exploration commitments 

The Group has certain obligations for payment of tenement rent, shire rates and to perform minimum exploration 
work on mineral leases held.  These obligations may vary over time, depending on the Group’s exploration 
programmes and priorities. 
 

Note 13 Mine Properties 

Accounting Policies 

Mine Properties Under Development 

Mine properties under development represents the costs incurred in preparing mines for production and includes 
plant and equipment under construction and operating costs incurred before production commences.  These costs are 
capitalised to the extent they are expected to be recouped through the successful exploitation of the related mining 
leases.  Once production commences, these costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and mine 
properties, as relevant, and are depreciated and amortised using the units-of-production method based on the 
estimated economically recoverable reserve to which they relate or are written off if the mine property is abandoned. 

Mine Properties in Production 

Other mine properties represent expenditure in respect of exploration, evaluation, feasibility and pre-production 
operating costs incurred by the Group previously accumulated and carried forward in mine properties under 
development in relation to areas of interest in which mining has now commenced.  Other mine properties are stated 
at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Other mine properties are amortised on a unit-of-production basis over the economically recoverable reserve of the 
mine concerned.  The unit of account is tonnes of ore mined.  From 1 January 2020 amortisation has been calculated 
based on the published Reserve which forms the basis of the current 3 year mine plan. 

Deferred Stripping 

Stripping activity costs incurred in the development phase of an open pit mine are capitalised as part of the cost of 
constructing the mine and subsequently amortised over the life of the mine on a units-of-production basis. 

Stripping activity incurred during the production phase of a mine is assessed as to whether the benefit accruing from 
that activity is to provide access to ore that can be used to produce ore inventory, or whether it in addition provides 
improved access to ore that will be mined in future periods. 

To the extent that the benefit from the stripping activity is realised in the form of inventory produced, the Group 
accounts for those stripping activity costs in accordance with AASB 102 Inventories.  A stripping activity asset is brought 
to account if it is probable that future economic benefits (improved access to that ore body) will flow to the Group, 
the component of the ore body for which access has been improved can be identified and costs relating to the stripping 
activity can be measured reliably. 
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Note 13 Mine Properties (continued) 

Accounting Policies (continued) 

Deferred Stripping (continued) 

The amount of stripping activity costs that are capitalised is determined based on a comparison of the stripping ratio 
in the relevant period with the life-of-mine stripping ratio.  To the extent that there is a period of sustained stripping 
that exceeds the average life-of-mine stripping ratio, mine waste stripping costs are capitalised to the stripping activity 
asset.  Such capitalised costs are amortised over the life of that component on a units-of-production basis.  Changes 
to the life-of-mine are accounted for prospectively. 

 
Mine 

Properties in 
Development 

$’000 

Mine 
Properties 

in 
Production 

$’000 

Deferred 
Stripping 

$’000 Total 

Year ended 30 June 2020     
Cost - 99,445 30,658 130,103 

Accumulated amortisation - (35,130) (10,487) (45,617) 

Net book value - 64,315 20,171 84,486 

Movements 

Opening carrying amount 
- 133,161 9,602 142,763 

Additions - 16,422 19,499 35,921 

Impairment (note 14) - (61,551) - (61,551) 

Change in rehabilitation provision - 2,325 - 2,325 

Amortisation expense - (26,042) (8,930) (34,972) 

Closing net book value - 64,315 20,171 84,486 

 
Year ended 30 June 2019 

    

Cost - 142,249 11,159 153,408 

Accumulated amortisation - (9,088) (1,557) (10,645) 

Net book value - 133,161 9,602 142,763 

Movements 

Opening carrying amount 

 

103,004 

 

- 

 

- 

 

103,004 

Additions(i) 6,665 19,795 11,159 37,619 

Transfers from PPE 5,467 201 - 5,668 

Transfers (122,234) 122,234 - - 

Change in rehabilitation provision 1,106 2,368 - 3,474 

Amortisation expense - (9,088) (1,557) (10,645) 

Borrowing costs capitalised / (expensed)(ii) 5,992 (2,349) - 3,643 

Closing net book value - 133,161 9,602 142,763 

 
(i) The 30 June 2019 additions include mine development and capitalised operating costs (including depreciation and 

amortisation) net of revenue from gold sales.  During the commissioning phase (before the commencement of 
commercial production on 1 January 2019) expenditures of an operating nature were capitalised to mine properties 
in development.  Revenue from the sale of gold prior to 1 January 2019 has been treated as pre-production income 
and was credited to capitalised mine properties in development. 

(ii) Borrowing costs at 30 June 2019 include capitalised interest of $2.9 million. 
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Note 13 Mine Properties (continued) 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Commencement of commercial production – Mt Morgans Gold Operation 

On 1 January 2019 the Group announced the commencement of commercial production at MMGO.  The criteria used 
to assess this were based on the unique nature of the mine including its complexity and location and requires 
judgement. 

The assessment considered the following: (1) all major capital expenditures to bring the mine to the condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Company have been completed; (2) the 
treatment plant and other surface infrastructure has been transferred to the control of the operations team from the 
commissioning team; (3) the power station is capable of delivering the required electricity; (4) the treatment plant’s 
crushing and milling circuits are capable of running at design capacity; (5) gold recoveries are at or near expected 
production levels; and (6) underground and open pit mining operations have achieved their required production levels 
and have the ability to sustain the ongoing production of ore at the required volumes.   

During the commissioning phase (prior to the commencement of commercial production) expenditures of an operating 
nature was capitalised to mine properties in development.  Revenue from the sale of gold was treated as pre-
production income and credited to capitalised mine properties in development. 

Production Stripping Costs 

The Group defers advanced stripping costs incurred during the production stage of its operations.   This calculation 
requires the use of judgements and estimates, such as estimates of tonnes of waste to be removed over the life of the 
mining area and economically recoverable reserves extracted as a result.  Changes in a mine’s life and design may 
result in changes to the expected stripping ratio (waste to mineral reserves ratio) and amortisation which is calculated 
on a units of production basis.  Any resulting changes are accounted for prospectively. 

Determination of mineral resources and reserves 

The Group uses the concept of life-of-mine as an accounting value to determine the amortisation of mine properties 
in production and deferred stripping costs.  In determining life-of-mine, the Group prepares ore resource and reserve 
estimates in accordance with JORC Code 2012, guidelines prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the 
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia.  
The estimate of these resources and ore reserves, by their very nature, require judgements, estimates and 
assumptions. 
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Note 14 Impairment of Assets 

Accounting Policy 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.  

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value.  In such 
cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.  When the carrying 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing the fair value less cost of disposal, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the cash generating unit.  

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless 
the asset is carried at the re-valued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a re-valuation increase.  

After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

The Group assessed its cash generating unit (“CGU”) for the half-year ended 31 December 2019 to determine whether 
any indication of impairment existed.  Where an indicator of impairment existed, a formal estimate of the recoverable 
amount was made. 

In assessing whether an impairment is required for the CGU, the carrying value is compared to its recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount was assessed by determining the CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal. Management of the 
Group has identified one CGU, the Mt Morgans Gold Operation (“MMGO”). 

31 December 2019 Assessment 

On 27 February 2020 the Company announced an updated Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimate which included 
a 40% reduction in Mineral Resource at the MMGO from 3.5 million to 2.1 million ounces.  The resource reduction 
related primarily to the Westralia underground mine where the Mineral Resource estimate decreased by 52% from 
1.5 million ounces to 0.7 million ounces. 

Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Company also announced production from Westralia was expected to conclude 
in the first half of the 2021 financial year which has now ceased in August 2020. Whilst the Group intends to undertake 
optimisation studies on the underground throughout financial year 2021, the outcome of this work cannot be 
determined at this time and the results are uncertain. 

As a result of these factors, it was determined that there were indicators of potential impairment of the MMGO CGU.  
The Group used the fair value less cost of disposal to determine the recoverable value of the MMGO CGU based on 
the following methodology and assumptions. 

Methodology 

The Group has impaired the assets within the MMGO CGU based on the fair values determined by a five year 
discounted cash flow assessment underpinned by the Group’s revised life-of-mine outlook.  The key assumptions in 
addition to the mine plans used in the discounted cash flow valuation are the USD gold price, the Australian dollar 
exchange rate against the US dollar and the discount rate (real terms). 

Average forecast annual production between financial years 2021 and 2023 averages 110,000 ounces per annum at 
an average forecast AISC of $1,350 per ounce. 
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Note 14 Impairment of Assets (continued) 

Methodology (continued) 

Gold price and AUD:USD exchange rate assumptions are estimated by management in real terms, with reference to 
external market forecasts.  For this review, the forecast gold price was estimated at between US$1,305 – US$1,493, 
and the forecast exchange rate of US$0.69 to US$0.74 per A$1.00, based on consensus forecasts over the life of the 
operation.   

A discount rate of 5.6% was applied to post tax cash flows expressed in real terms.  The discount rate was derived from 
the Company’s post tax weighted average cost of capital, with appropriate adjustments made to reflect the risks 
specific to the CGU, that are not in the underlying cash flows. 

The impairment testing at 31 December 2019 resulted in a total impairment charge to the CGU of $68.537 million.  
This impairment charge is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
and is summarised in this note.  The impairment is applied against the asset carrying values for the Westralia 
underground mine comprising mine properties and property plant and equipment. 

A +/-10% change in average gold price would decrease/increase the impairment by between $61.8 million and $63.2 
million and  a +/- 10% change in gold production would impact the impairment by $16.0 million, all other assumptions 
being equal.  

  MMGO 
carrying value 

prior to 
impairment 

Impairment 
loss 

 

Recoverable 
amount 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Property, plant and equipment 
 123,663 (6,986) 116,677 

Mine properties  159,788 (61,551) 98,237 

Total impairment  283,451 (68,537) 214,914 

The carrying value of the MMGO CGU equals its recoverable amount.  Significant changes to key assumptions including 
the forecast gold price, forecast exchange rate and operating assumptions will have an impact on the carrying value 
of the CGU in future periods. 

The Group performed an impairment indicator assessment at 30 June 2020 and determined that no impairment or 
impairment reversal was required. 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Determination of Mineral Resources & Ore Reserves 

The determination of mineral resources and ore reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values.  The Group 
estimates its mineral resources and ore reserves in accordance with the Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 2012 (the “JORC” Code).   The information on mineral resources and ore 
reserves was prepared by or under the supervision of Competent Persons as defined in the JORC Code.  The amounts 
presented are based on the mineral resources and ore reserves determined under the JORC Code. 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves, and assumptions that 
are valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. 

Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the 
economic status of reserves and may ultimately result in reserves being restated. 
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Note 15 Trade and Other Payables 

Accounting Policy 

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at the value of the invoice received from a supplier and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 
of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect 
of the purchase of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and generally paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  4,012 26,082 
Accrued expenses  17,004 17,872 

  21,016 43,954 

 

Note 16 Provisions 

Accounting Policy 

Rehabilitation and Restoration 

Long-term environmental obligations are based on the Group’s environmental management plans, in compliance with 
current environmental and regulatory requirements. 

Full provision is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance 
that has occurred up to the reporting date.  To the extent that future economic benefits are expected to arise, these 
costs are capitalised and amortised over the remaining lives of mines. 

Annual increases in the provision relating to the change in the net present value of the provision are recognised as 
finance costs.  The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for changes in 
legislation, technology or other circumstances.  Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the 
sale of assets or from plant clear-up closure. 

Employee Benefits 

The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long service leave entitlements accrued by 
employees. 

Short-term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected to 
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of the employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Long service leave 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service up to reporting date, plus related on costs.  The benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value and the discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high-quality corporate bonds 
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. 
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Note 16 Provisions (continued) 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Current:    
Employee leave liabilities  1,420 1,151 

  1,420 1,151 

Non-current:    
Employee leave liabilities  294 213 

Rehabilitation provision  20,901 18,395 

  21,195 18,608 

Provision for rehabilitation 

Balance at the start of the financial year  18,395 14,827 

Rehabilitation costs incurred during the year  (67) - 

Provisions recognised during the year  2,325 3,157 

Unwinding of discount  248 411 

Balance at the end of the financial year  20,901 18,395 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Rehabilitation Obligations 

The provision for rehabilitation and restoration costs is based on the net present value of the estimated cost of 
restoring the environmental disturbance that has occurred up to the reporting date.  Significant estimates and 
assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will 
affect the ultimate liability payable.  These factors include an estimate of the extent and costs of rehabilitation 
activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to the inflation rates and changes in 
discount rates.  These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently 
provided.  The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future 
rehabilitation costs required. 
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Capital Structure, Financial Instruments and Risk 

This section provides further information about the Group’s contributed equity, financial liabilities, related financing 
costs and its exposure to various financial risks.  It explains how these risks affect the Group’s financial position and 
performance and what the Group does to manage these risks. 
 

Note 17 Borrowings and Finance Costs 

Accounting Policies 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of borrowings using the effective interest rate method. 

Fees paid on establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.  In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs 
and amortised over the period of the remaining facility. 

Finance Leases 

From 1 July 2019 the Group has applied the new AASB 16 Leases accounting standard.  See note 28 for details of the 
impacts of this new standard which has increased the value of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of the Group. 

Prior to 1 July 2019, finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership for the lease item, were capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments were apportioned between the finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability.  Finance charges were recognised as an expense in profit or loss.  Capitalised leased assets were depreciated 
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there was no reasonable certainty that 
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.  The corresponding finance lease liability was reduced 
by the leased payments net of finance charges.  The interest element of lease payments represented a constant 
proportion of the outstanding capital balance and was charged to profit or loss, as finance costs over the period of the 
lease.  The carrying amounts of the Group’s current and non-current borrowings approximated their fair value. 

Unwinding of discount on provisions 

The unwinding of discount on provisions represents the cost associated with the passage of time.  Rehabilitation 
provisions are recognised at the discounted value of the present obligation to restore, dismantle and rehabilitate each 
mine site with the increase in the provision due to the passage of time being recognised as a finance cost in accordance 
with the policy described in note 16. 
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Note 17 Borrowings and Financing Costs (continued) 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Current    
Insurance premium funding liability  373 1,989 
Lease Liabilities  2,412 2,106 
Bank Loans  31,800 33,300 

  34,585 37,395 

Non-Current    
Lease Liabilities  11,300 13,445 
Bank Loans  32,300 72,200 

  43,600 85,645 

Project Debt Facility 

At 30 June 2020 the MMGO Project Debt Facility held with a syndicate of Financiers, comprising Westpac Banking 
Corporation, Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited and BNP Paribas, had an outstanding balance of $64.1 
million (30 June 2019: $105.5 million). 

During the year, debt repayments were made totalling $41.4 million (30 June 2019: $44.5 million). As a result, and in 
accordance with the loan agreement, the available debt limit was reduced by the same amount as all facilities had 
transitioned into the repayment phase. 

Repayments under the Project Debt Facility are classified as current or non-current in the financial statements with 
reference to the fixed repayment schedule.  Fixed repayments are scheduled on a quarterly interval and are 
determined based on the cash flow forecast from the approved bank financial model with the repayment amount set 
to achieve financial ratio compliance in each quarter.  Fixed repayments are scheduled over the period to 30 June 
2022, being the full tenor of the project debt facility.  The information in the following table has been prepared on this 
basis and reflects the agreed fixed repayment schedule as at 30 June 2020. 

During the December 2019 quarter, the Group and its Financiers initiated and completed a review of certain terms 
under the Project Debt Facility agreement that resulted in the following changes. 

• Fixed debt repayment schedule was modified to better align these repayment obligations with the cash flow 
forecast over the facilities remaining tenor to 30 June 2022.  This included the deferral of the 31 December 
2019 debt repayment to 31 March 2020 totalling $7.05 million and the setting aside of cash totalling $7.05 
million to a restricted cash account to part fund the 31 March 2020 debt repayment amount of $24.7 million. 

• A new variable debt repayment schedule was agreed that had the potential to increase debt repayments from 
June 2020.  The variable repayment each quarter was set up to a capped amount and subject to a ‘pay if you 
can’ condition.  Variable repayments were to be made only when working capital funding levels and quarterly 
cash flows (after the payment of non-discretionary corporate and exploration costs) exceed certain minimum 
levels.  The actual cash flows of the MMGO were a function of the gold price achieved (including hedging), 
gold production (including grade and recoveries) and the achievement of forecast operating and capital 
expenditure.   

• The Group implemented an interim hedging program with the purpose of this hedging to give the Group and 
Financiers future gold price certainty ahead of finalising the review.  The interim hedging comprised deferred 
premium gold put options covering 150,000 ounces at a strike price of $2,100 per ounce expiring on 28 
February 2020.  This allowed the Group to lock in a minimum gold price floor whilst retaining upside 
participation in higher spot gold prices, which enabled Financiers to agree to changes to the debt repayment 
schedule (noted above) and approve an updated bank financial model. 

 
 

  6 months or 
less 

6-12 months 1-2 years 

   $’000 $’000 $’000 

Bank Loan   25,800 6,000 32,300 
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Note 17 Borrowings and Financing Costs (continued) 

Project Debt Facility (continued) 

• Agreement that a final hedging program was to be undertaken on or before 28 February 2020 being the expiry 
date for the gold put options.  This hedging was to comprise a combination of forward sale contracts and 
deferred premium put options executed with a delivery profile over the period to 30 June 2021.  Hedge 
volumes and timing (up to a maximum 150,000 ounces) are to align with the forecast metal production in the 
approved bank model.  Further details of this hedging program are disclosed in notes 3 and 10.  

• The requirement to achieve compliance with the Project Completion Test under the Project Debt Facility by 
31 December 2019 was permanently removed as a condition. 

In January 2020, at the request of the Financiers, the Group: 

• Implemented a put option regime, covering 67,608 ounces at a strike price of $2,050 per ounce (net of costs) 
expiring over the period June 2021; and  

• Gold forward sale contracts covering 49,788 ounces at an average delivery price of A$2,266 per ounce over 
the period September 2020 to June 2021. 

On 27 February 2020, the Company announced two material changes to its business and future plans, being: 

• An updated Mineral Resources and Ore Reserve estimate which included a 40% reduction in the Mineral 
Resource from 3.5 million to 2.1 million ounces; and  

• to immediately suspend capital development at the Westralia underground mine resulting in current 
underground mining activities to be completed during the period to December 2020.   

As a consequence of these changes, the Group sought and received a number of approvals, waivers and concessions 
from the Financiers in relation to these changes.  A further rescheduling of debt repayment schedules was agreed with 
the Financiers to align debt repayments with the updated forecast mine plan and cash flow including the deferral of 
the $24.7 million debt repayment from 31 March 2020 to on or before 30 April 2020, so as to align the Company’s 
funding plans with the repayment.  The Company repaid the $24.7 million on 30 April 2020, following the receipt of 
proceeds from a capital raising. 

During the June 2020 quarter, 61,338 ounces of the put option regime were terminated early to reduce the overall 
cost of the regime.   

The key terms of the Facility as at 30 June 2020 are: 

• Fixed schedule of repayments through to 30 June 2022; 

• Security is provided by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of Dacian Gold’s operating subsidiary, Mt 
Morgans WA Mining Pty Ltd and a featherweight security over the assets of Dacian Gold Limited capped to a 
maximum value of $5,000.  The transaction banking accounts for the Group are secured assets.  The security 
provided by the Parent Entity, Dacian Gold Limited supports the guarantee provided to Mt Morgans WA 
Mining Pty Ltd; and 

• The Facility Agreement contains a number of typical financial covenants that are assessed and reported to 
Financiers on a quarterly basis.   

The effective interest rate on the facility at 30 June 2020 is 4.1% (30 June 2019: 4.6%).  

During the financial year, the Group incurred costs of $1.2 million with respect to the various changes made to the 
debt repayment schedule of the Facilities Agreement.    
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Note 17 Borrowings and Financing Costs (continued) 

Project Debt Facility (continued) 

Subsequent to year end, the Group ceased mining activities at Westralia in August 2020 ahead of the previously 
scheduled timeline (December 2020), preserving the 195,000 ounce (before 2HFY2020 mining depletion) Ore Reserve 
remaining as part of its optimisation studies.  As a result of the cessation of mining activities at Westralia four months 
earlier than planned and the rescheduling of the Jupiter open pit, FY2021 production guidance was revised to 110,000-
120,000 ounces (previously 120,000-130,000 ounces). 

As a consequence of these changes the Group sought and received further approvals, waivers and concessions from 
the Financiers related to financial covenant requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement.  In addition, the 
Group breached certain non-financial requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement for which a waiver has also 
been received.  These approvals, waivers and concessions were provided on the basis that the Group make a $25.0 
million debt repayment on 30 September 2020 inclusive of the $14.5 million scheduled repayment.  Total Project Debt 
Facility principal repayments following the capital raise, completed in May 2020, total $55.6 million, inclusive of the 
$25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020.  Following the $25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020, the 
Project Debt Facility balance decreased to $39.1 million. 

Financing facilities 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Total Facilities    
Project Debt Facility  64,100 105,500 
Bank Guarantee Facility  950 950 

  65,050 106,450 

Facilities used at reporting date    
Project Debt Facility  64,100 105,500 
Bank Guarantee Facility  674 674 

  64,774 106,174 

Facilities unused at reporting date    
Project Debt Facility  - - 
Bank Guarantee Facility  276 276 

  276 276 

Lease Liabilities 

Payment made under lease arrangements qualifying under AASB 16, but variable by nature and therefore not included 
in the minimum lease payments used to calculate lease liabilities of $9.5 million were expensed during the period.  
These included costs for services, including labour charges, under those contracts that contained payments for right-
of-use assets.   

Payments of $13.5 million for short term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets were 
expensed in the Statement of Profit or Loss for year ended 30 June 2020.  
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Note 18 Financial Instruments 

The Group has exposure to a variety of risks arising from its use of financial instruments.  This note presents 
information about the Group’s exposure to the specific risks, and the policies and processes for measuring and 
managing those risks.  The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the risk management framework and 
has adopted a Risk Management Policy.   

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from transactions with customers and investments. 

Gold Bullion Sales 

Credit risk arising from the sale of gold bullion to the Group’s customer is low as the payment by the customer (being 
The Perth Mint Australia) is guaranteed under statute by the Western Australian State Government.  In addition, sales 
are made to high credit quality financial institutions, hence credit risk arising from these transactions is low. 

Trade and other receivables 

The nature of the business activity of the Group does not result in trading receivables.  The receivables that the Group 
does experience through its normal course of business are short-term and the risk of non-recovery of receivables is 
considered to be negligible. 

Other 

In respect of derivative financial instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the mark-to-market of these instruments.  The Group does not hold 
any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.  

The Directors do not consider that the Group’s financial assets are subject to anything more than a negligible level of 
credit risk, and as such no disclosures are made. 
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Company’s reputation. 

The Group manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its cash reserves and forecast spending.  Management is cognisant 
of the future demands for liquid finance resources to finance the Group’s current and future operations, and 
consideration is given to the liquid assets available to the Group before commitment is made to future expenditure or 
investment. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting agreements: 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 years More than 
5 years 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2020        
Trade & other payables 21,016 21,016 21,016 - - - - 
Insurance premium 
funding liability 373 373 373 - - - - 
Lease liabilities 13,712 15,095 1,444 1,445 2,728 7,734 1,744 
Bank Loan(i) 64,100 66,788 26,961 6,762 33,065 - - 
Derivative instruments 261 265 265 - - - - 

 99,462 103,537 50,059 8,207 35,793 7,734 1,744 

2019        
Trade & other payables 43,954 43,954 43,954 - - - - 
Insurance premium 
funding liability 1,989 1,989 870 746 373 - - 
Lease liabilities 15,551 17,498 1,337 1,336 2,673 7,866 4,286 
Bank Loan 105,500 113,310 19,973 17,221 34,442 41,674 - 

 166,994 176,751 66,134 19,303 37,488 49,540 4,286 

(i) 2020 Bank loan repayments are presented as per the Project Debt Facility repayment schedule presented in note 17 
and have not been adjusted for the $10.5 million unscheduled debt repayment made on 30 September 2020.  Refer 
to the subsequent events note 27 for further discussion. 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices 
and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising any return. 

Commodity Price Risk 

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk arises largely from Australian dollar gold price fluctuations.  The Group’s 
exposure to movements in the gold price is managed through the use of Australian dollar gold forward contracts.  The 
gold forward sale contracts do not meet the criteria of financial instruments for accounting purposes on the basis that 
they meet the normal purchase/sale exemption because physical gold will be delivered into the contract.  Further 
information relating to these forward sale contracts is included in note 2.  No sensitivity analysis is provided for these 
contracts as they are outside the scope of AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates.  At the reporting date, the Group had the following exposure to interest rate risk on 
financial instruments. 

 Carrying amount ($) 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June  
2019 

 $’000 $’000 

Variable rate instruments   

Cash and cash equivalents 51,976 35,515 
Borrowings (64,100) (105,500) 

 (12,124) (69,985) 

Foreign Currency/Equity risk 

The Group does not have any direct contact with foreign exchange or equity risks other than their effect on the general 
economy.  

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss 
before tax by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

 $’000 $’000 

Interest Revenue   

Increase 1.0% (2019: 1.0%) 520 355 
Decrease 1.0% (2019: 1.0%) (520) (355) 

Interest Expense   
Increase 1.0% (2019: 1.0%) (641) (1,055) 
Decrease 1.0% (2019: 1.0%) 641 1,055 

(d) Fair values 

Fair values versus carrying amounts 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments recognised in the financial 
statements are materially the same.  The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial 
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. 
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Note 19 Issued Capital and Reserves 

Accounting Policy 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of shares or options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax effects. 
 

  30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

  No. No. $’000 $’000 

Issued share capital  556,264,777 225,713,403 338,904 244,513 

Share movements during the year 
     

Balance at the start of the financial year  225,713,403 205,844,814 244,513 195,187 
Share issue  328,029,358 17,948,339 98,626 48,429 

Exercise of options (cash)  - 1,700,000 - 1,670 

Exercise of options (non-cash)  2,227,482 - 761 458 

Exercise of performance rights (non-
cash) 

 294,534 220,250 796 637 

Less share issue costs  - - (7,011) (1,948) 

Deferred tax on share issue costs  - - 1,179 80 

Share-based payments for the year  - - 40 - 

Balance at the end of the financial year  556,264,777 225,713,403 338,904 244,513 

 

 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 
 Accumulated 

losses 
Share-based 

payments 
reserve (i) 

Accumulated 
losses 

Share-based 
payments 
reserve (i) 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at the beginning of the year (62,645) 3,007 (65,837) 3,516 
(Loss) / profit for the year (116,464) - 3,018 - 
Transfer to issued capital on exercise of 
options 

- (761) - (458) 

Transfer to issued capital on exercise of 
performance rights 

- (796) - (637) 

Transfer to accumulated losses due to 
market conditions not met 

597 (597) 174 (174) 

Share-based payments for the year - 1,397 - 760 

Balance at the end of the year  (178,512) 2,250 (62,645) 3,007 

(i) The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options over unissued shares and 
performance rights provided to employees and Key Management Personnel. 
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Other Disclosures 

This section provides information on items which require disclosure to comply with Australian Accounting Standards 
and other regulatory pronouncements. 

Note 20 Deferred Tax 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary timing differences at the tax rates expected to apply 
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantially 
enacted for each jurisdiction.  The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable 
temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability.  An exception is made for certain temporary 
differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised 
in relation to those timing differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the 
time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax 
bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and liabilities 
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in 
equity. 

Amounts receivable from the Australian Tax Office in respect of research and development tax concession claims are 
recognised when management have a reasonable basis to estimate claim proceeds. 

Tax consolidation 

The company and its 100% owned controlled entities have formed a tax consolidated group.  Members of the 
Consolidated Entity have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly 
owned controlled entities on a pro-rate basis.  The agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations.  At reporting date, the possibility 
of default is remote.  The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Dacian Gold Limited.  
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Note 20 Deferred Tax (continued) 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 
30 June 

 2020 
30 June  

2019 
 $’000 $’000 

Deferred tax assets   

Trade & other payables  17 17 
Provisions 6,783 5,927 
Borrowings – Finance lease liabilities 4,114 4,665 
Borrowing costs 191 421 
Business related costs – profit & loss 2,114 3,259 
Other financial liabilities 78 - 
Capital raising costs – equity 2,334 1,155 
Tax Losses 17,669 52,450 

Deferred tax liabilities   

Trade & other receivables (235) (283) 
Inventories (230) (347) 
Derivative financial instruments (13) - 
Property, plant and equipment (10,033) (11,912) 
Exploration and evaluation assets (985) (956) 
Mine properties  (8,430) (21,823) 

Net deferred tax assets 13,374 32,573 

Movement in temporary differences during the year: 

 Balance 
30 June 

2019 
$’000 

 
Recognised in 

income 
$’000 

 
Recognised in 

Equity 
$’000 

Balance 
30 June 

2020 
$’000 

Trade and other receivables (284) 49 - (235) 
Inventories (347) 117 - (230) 
Derivative financial instruments - (13) - (13) 
Property, plant & equipment (11,912) 1,879 - (10,033) 
Exploration & evaluation (956) (29) - (985) 
Mine properties in development (21,823) 13,393 - (8,430) 
Trade & other payables  17 - - 17 
Provisions 5,927 856 - 6,783 
Other financial liabilities - 78 - 78 
Borrowings 4,665 (551) - 4,114 
Borrowing costs 421 (230) - 191 
Business related costs – profit & loss 3,259 (1,145) - 2,114 
Capital raising costs – equity 1,155 - 1,179 2,334 
Tax losses 52,450 (34,781) - 17,669 

 32,572 (20,377) 1,179 13,374 

The decision by the Group to suspend mining operations at the Westralia underground mine in August 2020 has 
reduced the expected future taxable income to be generated by MMGO to utilise the tax losses brought to account at 
30 June 2020.  As a result, deferred tax assets of $34.138 million (30 June 2019: nil) were derecognised at 31 December 
2019. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of tax losses generated from January 2020 during the 
current period because the Group’s cash flow forecasts indicate it is not sufficiently probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the Company can utilise these losses.   
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Note 20 Deferred Tax (continued) 

The value of tax losses (gross basis not tax effected) available to the Group at 30 June 2020 for income tax purposes is 
$221.9 million, which comprises (for accounting) recognised tax losses totalling $58.9 million and unrecognised tax 
losses totalling $163.0 million. Utilisation will be subject to relevant tax legislation associated with recoupment 
including the same business test and continuity of ownership test.  The Group has a reasonable expectation that these 
losses can be carried forward to future years for income tax purposes. 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability of the Group’s 
future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised.  In addition, significant judgement is 
required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 

To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to 
realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.  Additionally, future changes in 
the tax laws in Australia could limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 
 

Note 21 Share-Based Payments 

Accounting Policy 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based 
incentives, whereby employees render services in exchange for options and shares (equity-settled transactions). 

There is currently a plan in place to provide these benefits, the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan, which 
provides benefits to Executive Directors and other employees. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by using an appropriate valuation 
model.  

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 
to the price of the underlying Shares to which the equity instrument relates (market and non-vesting conditions) if 
applicable.  The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the 
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
(ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions 
is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.  The statement of profit or loss charge or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

No expense is recognised for share-based incentives that do not ultimately vest, except for incentives where vesting 
is only conditional upon market and non-vesting conditions. 

If the terms of a share-based incentive are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the 
incentive, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification. 

If a share-based incentive is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 
incentive and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled incentive and new 
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the incentive, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including Executive Directors) of the Group through share-based 
incentives.  Information relating to these schemes is set out below. 
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Note 21 Share-Based Payments (continued) 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June  
2019 

 $’000 $’000 

Recognised share-based payments expense   

Employee share-based payments expense 638 131 

Performance rights expense 1,074 629 

Total share-based payments expense 1,712 760 

Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan 

The establishment of the Dacian Gold Limited Employee Option Plan (“the Plan”) was last approved by a resolution of 
the shareholders of the Company on 26 November 2018.  All eligible Directors, executive officers and employees of 
Dacian Gold Limited and its subsidiaries, who have been continuously employed by the Company are eligible to 
participate in the Plan.  The Plan allows the Company to issue free options or performance rights to eligible persons. 

Options over Unissued Shares 

The options can be granted free of charge and are exercisable at a fixed price in accordance with the Plan.  Options 
issued under the Plan have vesting periods prior to exercise, except under certain circumstances whereby options may 
be capable of exercise prior to the expiry of the vesting period.  The options are granted free of charge and vest subject 
to certain operational and market performance conditions being met. Options lapse if the employee ceases 
employment with the Company. 

During the financial year no options over unissued shares were issued pursuant to the Company’s Employee Option 
Plan (30 June 2019: nil).  Options issued have been valued and included in the financial statements over the periods 
that they vest. 

a) Reconciliation of movement of options over unissued shares during the period including weighted average exercise 
price (“WAEP”)  

  30 June 2020 30 June 2019 
  No. WAEP No. WAEP 

Options outstanding at the start of the year (i)  5,250,000 $0.96 6,950,000 $1.07 
Options exercised during the year  4,000,000 $0.70 1,700,000 $0.98 

Options outstanding at the end of the year  1,250,000 $1.81 5,250,000 $1.10 

(i)   The number and the weighted average exercise price of options at 1 July 2019 has been adjusted in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Plan.  Further details of the adjustment are noted below. 

The terms of the unissued ordinary options at 30 June 2020 are as follows 

Number of options Exercise price Expiry date 

400,000 $0.60 30 September 2020 

50,000 $0.61 31 January 2021 

300,000 $1.44 28 February 2021 

500,000 $3.11 30 June 2021 

b) Subsequent to the reporting date 

No options have been granted subsequent to the reporting date and to the date of signing this report.  
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Note 21 Share-Based Payments (continued) 

Options over Unissued Shares (continued) 

c) Adjustment to exercise price 

As a result of the Company’s placement and accelerated entitlement offer which was completed in May 2020, the 
exercise price of options over unissued shares in the Company issued prior to the offer has been recalculated.  The 
resulting reduction in exercise price, reflected in the table below, was calculated in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the options on issue and the Company’s employee share option plan. 

Date granted Number of options Original exercise 
price 

Amended exercise 
price 

Expiry date 

5 October 2015 400,000 $1.15 $0.60 30 September 2020 

5 February 2016 50,000 $1.16 $0.61 31 January 2021 

26 February 2016 300,000 $1.99 $1.44 28 February 2021 

28 June 2016 500,000 $3.66 $3.11 30 June 2021 

Any vesting conditions in relation to the options on issue remain unchanged. 

d) Weighted average contract life 

The weighted average contractual life for vested and un-exercised options is 8 months (30 June 2019: 12 months). 

Performance Rights 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, 1,601,019 performance rights (30 June 2019: nil) were issued to 
employees, pursuant to the terms of the Plan.  These performance rights vest one year from the measurement date 
subject to the completion of a 12 month service condition.  These rights comprise tranches A and B in the table below.   

On 16 June 2020, upon approval by the shareholders the company issued 8,333,334 performance rights to Leigh Junk 
(Managing Director & CEO) as per the terms of his Executive Services Agreement, pursuant to the terms of the Plan.  
These performance rights vest immediately at the measurement date and comprise tranches C to H in the table below. 

The performance conditions that the Board has determined will apply to the Performance Rights are summarised 
below: 

Tranche Amount Weighting Performance Conditions 

A 1,072,683 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile 
(measured over a 1 year period to 1 July 2020) 

B 528,336 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 1 year period to 1 
July 2020) 

C 1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile 
(measured over the 3 year period to 30 June 2023) 

D 916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 3 year period to 
30 June 2023) 

E 1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile 
(measured over the 4 year period to 30 June 2024) 

F 916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 4 year period to 
30 June 2024) 

G 1,861,111 67% of the Performance Rights TSR performance to peers above 50th percentile 
(measured over the 5 year period to 30 June 2025) 

H 916,667 33% of the Performance Rights Reserve Growth (measured over a 5 year period to 
30 June 2025) 
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Note 21 Share-Based Payments (continued) 

Performance Rights (continued) 

The fair value of the performance rights granted were determined using Monte Carlo simulation, a review of historical 
share price volatility and correlation of the share price of the Company to its Peer Group.  The table below details the 
terms and conditions of the grant and the assumptions used in estimating fair value: 

Item         

Grant date 23 August 
2019 

23 August 
2019 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

16 June 
2020 

Number of rights 1,072,683 528,336 916,667 1,861,111 916,667 1,861,111 916,667 1,861,111 

Value of underlying 
security at grant date 

$1.09 $1.09 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 $0.465 

Fair value $1.014 $1.09 $0.465 $0.378 $0.465 $0.403 $0.465 $0.421 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Risk free rate 0.73% 0.73% 0.26% 0.26% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 

Volatility 55% 55% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 

Performance period 
(years) 

1 1 3 3 4 4 5 5 

Commencement of 
measurement period 

1 July 
2019 

1 July 
2019 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

Test date 1 July 
2020 

1 July 
2020 

30 June 
2023 

30 June 
2023 

30 June 
2024 

30 June 
2024 

30 June 
2025 

30 June 
2025 

Remaining performance 
period (years) 

- - 3 3 4 4 5 5 

The movement in weighted average fair value (“WAFV”) appears in the table below: 

  30 June 2020 30 June 2019 
  No. WAFV No. WAFV 

Rights outstanding at the start of the year  299,893 $2.24 711,068 $2.61 
Rights issued during the year  9,934,353 $0.52 - - 
Rights vested during the year(i)  (129,534) $1.95 (165,000) $3.30 
Rights lapsed during the year  - - (165,000) $2.78 
Rights forfeited during the year  (556,366) $1.30 (81,175) $2.23 

Rights outstanding at the end of the year  9,548,346 $0.51 299,893 $2.24 

(i)    At 30 June 2020, there were no rights that had vested during the year and were unissued at year end. At 30 June 
2019 165,000 rights had vested during the year and were unissued at year end. 

Shares 

During the financial year, Mr Leigh Junk was issued a one-off on-boarding share issue as part of his Executive Services 
Agreement.  The terms of the share issues were as follows: 

- Tranche 1: 191,856 shares (fair value of $314,417 using a 5 day VWAP prior to the date of award), issued on 
commencement date of 6 January 2020; 

- Tranche 2: 191,856 shares (fair value of $314,417 using a 5 day VWAP prior to the date of award), issued on 1 
September 2020. 

Key Estimates and Assumptions 

Share-Based Payments 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined using an appropriate valuation model.  
The valuation basis and related assumptions are detailed above.  The accounting estimates and assumptions relating 
to the equity settled transactions would have no impact on the carrying value of assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity. 

 



 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

Dacian Gold Limited 2020 Annual Report     67 | P a g e  
 

Note 22 Commitments 

 (a) Operating lease commitments 

The Company leases assets for operations and office premises.  As at 1 July 2019, with the adoption of AASB 16, 
operating leases as previously defined under AASB 117, have for the most part, been recognised and included as lease 
liabilities with future commitments disclosed in note 18.  Any leases that did not meet the definition of finance leases, 
were either short-term in nature or did not meet the recognition requirements.  Expenses from operating leases under 
AASB 117 for 30 June 2019 totalled $0.2 million.  See note 28 for further details of this change. The disclosure of prior 
period operating commitments is retained in these financial statements as follows: 

 30 June  
2019 

 $’000 

Due within 1 year 212 

Due after 1 year but not more than 5 years 271 

 483 

 
Note 23 Contingencies 

(a) Contingent liabilities 

There are no material contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 

(b) Contingent assets 

There are no material contingent assets at the reporting date. 
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Note 24 Related Party Disclosures 

(a) Controlled Entities 

 Ownership Interest 
 2020 

% 
2019 

% 

Parent Entity 
Dacian Gold Limited 

 
 

 
 

Subsidiaries   
Dacian Gold Mining Pty Ltd 100 100 
Mt Morgans WA Mining Pty Ltd 100 100 

(b) Parent Entity 

Financial statements and notes for Dacian Gold Limited, the legal parent entity are provided below: 

 
 

Parent 
30 June  

2020 
30 June 

2019 
$’000 $’000 

Financial position   

Current assets 44,025 17,547 
Non-current assets 183,109 225,436 

Total assets 227,134 242,983 

Current liabilities 945 802 
Non-current liabilities 227 161 

Total liabilities 1,172 963 

Shareholders’ equity   
Issued capital 338,904 244,513 
Share-based payments reserve 2,250 3,007 
Accumulated losses (115,192) (5,500) 

Total equity 225,962 242,020 

Financial performance   

Loss for the year (110,289) (20,721) 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income - - 

Total comprehensive loss (110,289) (20,721) 

Commitments 

The parent entity had lease commitments of $0.3 million at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: $0.5 million) relating to the 
lease of the Group’s Perth office and car park.  A featherweight security is in place over the assets of the Parent Entity 
capped to a maximum value of $5,000 for the benefit of the MMGO project debt facility Financiers.  The transaction 
banking accounts for the Parent Entity are secured assets.  This security supports the guarantee provided by the Parent 
Entity to Mt Morgans WA Mining Pty Ltd.   
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Note 24 Related Party Disclosures (continued) 

(c) Transactions with related parties 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, services totalling $74,523 (30 June 2019: $216,042) were provided on normal 
commercial terms to the Group by Perenti Global and its subsidiaries (previously Ausdrill Limited), of which Mr 
Cochrane is Non-Executive Chairman.  The services provided related to open pit grade control drilling and mineral 
analysis.  Mr Cochrane was not party to any contract negotiations for either party. 

Other than transactions with parties related to Key Management Personnel mentioned above and in the remuneration 
report, there have been no other transactions with parties related to the consolidated entity in the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 
 
Note 25 Key Management Personnel  

(a) Directors and Key Management Personnel 

The following persons were Directors or Key Management Personnel of the Company during the current and prior 
financial year: 

Ian Cochrane Non-Executive Chairman (i) 
Leigh Junk Managing Director & CEO (ii) 
Robert Reynolds Non-Executive Director 
Barry Patterson Non-Executive Director 
Rohan Williams Executive Chairman & CEO (Iii) 
Grant Dyker Chief Financial Officer (iv) 

James Howard Chief Operating Officer (v) 

(i) Ian Cochrane was a Non-Executive Director until his appointment as Non-Executive Chairman on 6 January 2020. 
(ii) Leigh Junk was appointed on 6 January 2020 and continues in office at the date of this report. 
(iii) Rohan Williams was Executive Chairman from the beginning of the financial year until his retirement on 6 January 

2020. 
(iv) Grant Dyker was Chief Financial Officer from the beginning of the financial year until his retirement on 15 July 2020. 
(v) James Howard was appointed Chief Operating Officer from 1st March 2020 coinciding with his appointment as KMP. 

There were no other persons employed by, or contracted to, the Company during the financial year, having 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, either directly or indirectly.   

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Details of Key Management Personnel remuneration are contained in the Audited Remuneration Report in the 
Directors’ Report.  A summary of total compensation paid to Key Management Personnel during the year is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June 
2019 

 $ $ 

Short-term employment benefits 1,649,778 1,498,048 
Share-based payments 1,173,795 505,630 
Other long-term benefits (50,929) 17,518 
Termination benefits 314,813 - 
Post-employment benefits  82,958 67,972 

Total Key Management Personnel remuneration 3,170,415 2,089,168 
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Note 26 Auditors Remuneration 

 30 June 
2020 

30 June  
2019 

  $ $ 

Grant Thornton    
Fees in respect to prior year  - 21,588 
KPMG    
Fees in respect of prior year  45,000 85,000 
Audit and review of financial statements FY20  177,000 - 
Other Services    
KPMG – other non-audit services(i)  93,150 - 

Total  315,150 106,588 

(i) Relates to Investigating Accountant services for capital raising in May 2020 
 
Note 27 Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date 

Subsequent to year end, the Company ceased mining activities at Westralia during August 2020 ahead of the previously 
scheduled timeline (December 2020), preserving the 195,000 ounce (before 2HFY2020 mining depletion) Ore Reserve 
remaining as part of its optimisation studies.  As a result of the cessation of mining activities at Westralia four months 
earlier than planned and the rescheduling of the Jupiter open pit, FY2021 production guidance was revised to 110,000-
120,000 ounces (previously 120,000-130,000 ounces). 

As a consequence of these changes the Group sought and received further approvals, waivers and concessions from 
the Financiers related to financial covenant requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement.  In addition, the 
Group breached certain non-financial requirements of the Project Debt Facility Agreement for which a waiver has also 
been received.  These approvals, waivers and concessions were provided on the basis that the Group make a $25.0 
million debt repayment on 30 September 2020 inclusive of the $14.5 million scheduled repayment.  Total Project Debt 
Facility principal repayments following the capital raise, completed in May 2020, total $55.6 million, inclusive of the 
$25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020.  Following the $25.0 million repayment on 30 September 2020, the 
Project Debt Facility balance decreased to $39.1 million. 

 Other than the items noted above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the reporting period and 
the date of this report, any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 
Directors of the Company, to affect substantially the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Group, in subsequent financial years.  
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Note 28 New and Revised Accounting Standards 

Changes in accounting policy 

Any new, revised or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted and are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group. 

AASB 16 Leases 

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on the Group's financial statements and discloses the 
new accounting policies that have been applied from 1 July 2019. 

AASB 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both 
parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (“lessee”) and the supplier (“lessor”).  AASB 16 replaces the previous lease 
standard, AASB 117 Leases, and related interpretations.  AASB 16 has one model for lessees which will result in almost 
all leases being included on the Balance Sheet. 

The lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease repayments. 

The Group has adopted AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach from 1 July 2019, and has not restated 
comparatives for the 2019 reporting period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard.  
The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening 
balance sheet on 1 July 2019. 

The Group leases assets including property plant and equipment.  As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases 
as operating or financial leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership.  Under AASB 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for some of 
these leases – i.e. they are on-Balance Sheet. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets in property, plant and equipment together with the assets that it owns.  The 
Group presents lease liabilities separately in the Balance Sheet. 

The accounting policy changes have been outlined below. 

Definition of a lease 

In accordance with AASB 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 

Practical expedients applied 

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:  

• the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; 

• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 as short-
term leases; 

• the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application 
and; 

• the use of hindsight in determining the lease’s term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate 
the lease. 

The Group has applied the grandfathering provisions and also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease at the date of initial application.  Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the 
Group relied on its assessment made applying AASB 117 and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease.  This applies to the Group’s mining services contracts. 
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Note 28 New and Revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

Changes in accounting policy (continued) 

AASB 16 Leases (continued) 

Right-of-use assets  

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except 
where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing 
the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.  Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the 
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life.  Right-of-use assets are 
subject to impairment or adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. 

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-
term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.  Lease payments on these assets are 
expensed to profit or loss as incurred.  

Lease liabilities  

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The lease liability is initially recognised at the 
present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity's incremental borrowing 
rate.   

Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that 
depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a 
purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination 
penalties.  The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate 
used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties.  When a lease 
liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 
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Note 28 New and Revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

Changes in accounting policy (continued) 

AASB 16 Leases (continued) 

Adjustments recognised on adoption of AASB 16 

On adoption of AASB 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified 
as 'operating leases' under the principles of AASB 117 Leases.  These liabilities were measured at the present value of 
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. The incremental 
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019 was 3.9%. 

Lease liabilities are classified in Borrowings on the Statement of Financial Position. 

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount 
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2019.  
There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date 
of initial application. 

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets: 

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that 
include renewal options.  The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts 
the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. 

The impact of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on transition to AASB 16 on the Statement of Profit or Loss was 
not material. 

The right-of-use assets are classified as property, plant and equipment in the Statement of Financial Position.  There 
was no impact on retained earnings at 1 July 2019. 

IFRIC 23 

IFRIC 23 became effective for the Group from 1 July 2019 and clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements of AASB 12 – Income Taxes are applied where there is uncertainty over tax treatments. The Group has 
reviewed the accounting standard and has determined that there is no material impact. 

 2019 
 $’000 

Operating lease commitments at 1 July 2019 483 
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application 471 

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 471 

Represented by:  
Current lease liabilities 202 
Non-current lease liabilities 269 

 471 

 30 June 
2020 

1 July 
2019 

 $’000 $’000 

Land and buildings 261 471 

Total right-of-use assets 261 471 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

In the opinion of the Directors of Dacian Gold Limited (the ‘Company’): 

a. The accompanying financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

performance for the year then ended; and 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, professional 
reporting requirements and other mandatory requirements. 
 

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 
 

c. The financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 
This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance 
with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
DATED at Perth this 30th day of September 2020. 
 

 
Leigh Junk 

Managing Director & CEO 
 



 

 

 

 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the shareholders of Dacian Gold Limited  

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of Dacian 
Gold Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Report 
of the Company is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  

• Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 
financial performance for the year ended on 
that date; and 

• Complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001. 

The Financial Report comprises:  

• Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2020. 

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and 
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended. 

• Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of the Company and the 
entities it controlled at the year-end or from time 
to time during the financial year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in 
Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matters we identified are: 

• Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and mine properties. 

• Recoverability of deferred tax assets. 

• Going concern basis of accounting. 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the Financial Report of 
the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 



      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and mine properties ($68.537 million) 

Refer to Note 11, 13 and 14 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and mine properties was considered a key audit 
matter due to the: 

• Size of the property, plant and equipment 
and mine properties balance (being 67% of 
total assets). 

• Level of judgement required by us in 
evaluating assumptions used by the Group in 
its valuation assessment. 

• The Group recording an impairment charge 
of $68.537 million at 31 December 2019, 
against property, plant and equipment and 
mine properties. This resulted from the 
reduction in Mineral Resource and Ore 
Reserve Estimate relating primarily to the 
Westralia underground mine and the 
subsequent decision to suspend operations 
at the Westralia underground mine over the 
first half of the 2021 financial year.  This 
further increased the sensitivity of the model 
and our audit effort in this key audit area. 

The impairment of the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment and mine properties applies 
significant and judgmental assumptions in a fair 
value less costs of disposal model. These 
assumptions include: 

• Forecast sales and production output, 
production costs and capital expenditure. 
The Group’s models are sensitive to changes 
in these assumptions indicating possible 
impairment. This drives additional audit effort 
specific to their feasibility and consistency of 
application to the Group’s strategy.  

• Forecast gold prices experiencing volatility, 
increasing the risk of future fluctuations and 
inaccurate forecasting. 

• Discount rate, which is complicated in 
nature. 

• Life of mineral reserves. The Group uses 
internal and external experts to assist it in 
producing the Reserves statement which 
underlies the forecast production output 
within the model. 

 

 

 

 

Our procedures included: 

• We considered the appropriateness of the 
Group’s use of the fair value less costs of 
disposal methodology against the 
requirements of the accounting standards. 

• We, along with our valuation specialists, 
assessed the integrity of the fair value less 
costs of disposal model used, including the 
accuracy of the underlying calculation 
formulas. 

• We evaluated the sensitivity of the valuation of 
property, plant and equipment and mine 
properties by considering reasonably possible 
changes to the key assumptions, such as 
forecast sales and production output, forecast 
gold prices, production costs and the discount 
rate. We did this to identify those assumptions 
at higher risk of bias or inconsistency in 
application and to focus our further 
procedures. 

• We assessed the historical accuracy of 
previous Group budgets by comparing to 
actual results to inform our evaluation of 
forecasts incorporated in the model. We 
evaluated the impact on the business, to 
determine further testing required. 

• We assessed key assumptions underlying the 
discounted cash flows in the fair value less 
costs of disposal model (including forecast 
sales and production output, production costs 
and capital expenditure) using our knowledge 
of the Group, their past performance, and our 
industry experience. We challenged the 
Group’s significant forecast cash flows and we 
applied increased skepticism to forecasts in 
the areas where previous budgets were not 
achieved. We compared key events to the 
Board approved budget and strategy.  

• We compared expected forecast gold prices to 
published views of market commentators on 
future trends. 

• We assessed the scope, competence and 
objectivity of the Group’s internal and external 
experts involved in the estimation process of 
mineral reserves.  

• We compared the life of mineral reserves and 
production output assumptions in the Group’s 
model to the Reserves statement 
commissioned by the Group for consistency.  



      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These conditions necessitate additional scrutiny 
and professional scepticism by us, in particular to 
address the objectivity of sources used for 
assumptions, and their consistent application. 
In assessing this key audit matter, we involved 
senior team members and valuation specialists. 

• Working with our valuation specialists, we 
independently developed a discount rate range 
considered comparable, using publicly 
available market data for comparable entities. 

• We recalculated the impairment charge 
against the recorded amount disclosed and 
assessed the disclosures in the financial report 
using our understanding of the issue obtained 
from our testing and against the requirements 
of the accounting standards. 

Recoverability of deferred tax assets ($13.374 million) 

Refer to Note 4 and 20 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets of 
$13.374 million as at 30 June 2020, which 
includes tax losses carried forward in Australia.  

Accounting standards state deferred tax assets 
are only recognised if certain conditions under 
Australian tax law are satisfied and if it is 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
generated in the future in order for the benefits 
of the deferred tax assets to be realised.   

The recoverability of deferred tax assets was a 
key audit matter due to: 

• The significant judgement to assess the 
probability the Group can generate sufficient 
taxable profits in light of the tax losses 
recorded in the current and previous financial 
years. 

• As described in the impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and mine properties 
key audit matter above, the Group 
recognised a reduction in Mineral Resource 
and Ore Reserve Estimate relating primarily 
to the Westralia underground mine which 
has subsequently resulted in the suspension 
of mining activities at the Westralia 
underground mine over the first half of the 
2021 financial year. This has resulted in the 
derecogntion of $34.1 million of deferred tax 
assets during the year and raises our focus 
on the reliability of forecasts and increasing 
the possibility that deferred tax assets are 
not recoverable. 

• The risk of the Group incorrectly applying the 
requirements of the accounting standards 
and Australian tax law to recognise deferred 
tax assets for tax losses, which could result 
in a substantial effect on the Group’s 
statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 

 

 Working with our tax specialists, our procedures 
included: 

• We examined the documentation prepared by 
the Group underlying the availability of tax 
losses and annual utilisation allowances for 
consistency with Australian tax law. 

• We assessed the factors that led to the Group 
incurring tax losses in the current year and 
previous years, and challenged the Group’s 
assessment of future taxable profits.  

• We compared the forecasts included in the 
Group’s estimate of future taxable profits used 
in their deferred tax asset recoverability 
assessment to those used in the Group’s 
assessment of the impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and mine properties. Our 
approach to testing these forecasts was 
consistent with the approach detailed above in 
relation to the impairment of property, plant 
and equipment and mine properties. We 
challenged the differences between forecast 
cash flows and taxable profits by evaluating 
the adjustment of cash flows, for differences 
between accounting profits, as presented in 
the Group’s forecasts, to taxable profits, 
against Australian tax law.  

• Understanding the timing of future taxable 
profits and considering the consistency of the 
timeframes of expected recovery to our 
knowledge of the business and its plans. We 
placed increased scepticism where there was 
a longer timeframe of expected recovery. 

• We assessed the disclosures in the financial 
report using the results from our testing and 
against the requirements of the accounting 
standards. 



      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We involved tax specialists to supplement our 
senior team members in assessing this key audit 
matter.   

Going concern basis of accounting  

Refer to Going Concern Basis for Preparation of Financial Statements Note to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and the associated extent of 
uncertainty is a key audit matter due to the high 
level of judgement required by us in evaluating 
the Group’s assessment of going concern and 
the events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on their ability to continue as a going 
concern. These are outlined in Going Concern 
Basis for Preparation of Financial Statements 
Note. 

The Directors have determined that the use of 
the going concern basis of accounting is 
appropriate in preparing the financial report. Their 
assessment of going concern was based on cash 
flow projections. The preparation of these 
projections incorporated a number of 
assumptions and significant judgements, and the 
Directors have concluded that the range of 
possible outcomes considered in arriving at this 
judgement does not give rise to a material 
uncertainty casting significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

We critically assessed the levels of uncertainty, 
as it related to the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, within these assumptions and 
judgements, focusing on the following: 

• The Group’s forecast sales, production 
volumes, production costs and capital 
expenditure levels including within the 
Group’s cash flow forecasts. This include 
feasibility to achieve forecasts in light of 
previous production challenges. 

• Impact of expected gold prices and forecast 
exchange rates to cash flows projected. 

• The Group’s ability to meet financing 
commitments and covenants. This included 
nature of planned methods to achieve this, 
feasibility and status/progress of those plans. 
As disclosed in the Going Concern Basis for 
Preparation of Financial Statements Note, 
subsequent to year end, the Group has 
sought and received certain approvals, 
concessions and waivers of financial and non-
financial requirements of the Project Debt 
Facility agreement, from the Financiers.   

Our procedures included: 

• We analysed the cash flow projections by: 

– Evaluating the underlying data used to 
generate the projections. We specifically 
looked for their consistency with those 
tested by us, as set out in the impairment 
of property, plant and equipment and 
mine properties key audit matter, their 
consistency with the Group’s intentions 
and their comparability to past results.  

– Analysing the impact of reasonably 
possible changes in projected cash flows 
and their timing, to the projected periodic 
cash positions. We assessed the resultant 
impact to the ability of the Group to pay 
debts as and when they fall due and 
continue as a going concern.  The specific 
areas we focused on were informed from 
our test results of the accuracy of 
previous Group cash flow projections and 
sensitivity analysis on key cash flow 
projection assumptions.  

– Assessing the planned levels of operating 
and capital expenditures for consistency 
of relationships and trends to the Group’s 
historical results, results since year end, 
and our understanding of the business, 
industry and economic conditions of the 
Group. 

• We assessed historical trends and read 
correspondence with existing and potential 
financiers to understand and assess the 
options available to the Group including 
renegotiation or rolling forward of existing 
debt facilities, waivers in meeting financial 
loan covenants and negotiation of 
additional/revised funding arrangements.  

• We read and assessed the impact of 
concessions, approvals and waivers of certain 
financial and non-financial requirements of the 
Project Debt Facility received from the 
Financiers subsequent to year end, on the 
cash flow projections. 

 



      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• The Group’s ability to raise additional funds 
from shareholders or other parties and the 
projected timing thereof. This included source 
of funds, availability of fund type, feasibility 
and status/progress of securing those funds. 

In assessing this key audit matter, we involved 
senior audit team members who understand the 
Group’s business, industry and the economic 
environment it operates in. 

• We read relevant correspondence with the 
Group’s advisors to understand and assess 
the Group’s ability to raise additional 
shareholder funds. 

• We evaluated the Group’s going concern 
disclosures in the financial report by 
comparing them to our understanding of the 
matter, the events or conditions incorporated 
into the cash flow projection assessment, the 
Group’s plans to address those events or 
conditions, and accounting standard 
requirements. 

 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Dacian Gold Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s Report. 
The Chairman’s Letter, Managing Director’s Letter, Review of Operations, Corporate Governance 
Statement, ASX Additional Information and Tenement Schedule are expected to be made available to 
us after the date of the Auditor’s Report.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception 
of the Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• Preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 

• Implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

• Assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to 
liquidate the Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so.  

  



      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• To issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 
Auditor’s Report. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Dacian 
Gold Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, 
complies with Section 300A of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for 
the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 
300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Our responsibilities 

We have audited the Remuneration Report 
included in the Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.   

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

  

KPMG Graham Hogg 

Partner 

Perth 

30 September 2020 

 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf

